
Sherwood Plan Commission 
Meeting Notice and Agenda 

June 1, 2020 — 6:30 p.m. 

Village Hall — W482 Clifton Road, Sherwood, Wisconsin 

NOTE: Due to COVID-19 restrictions, residents are not allowed in the Village Hall but may join' the meeting 
at 6:30pm via Webex meeting home page at www.villageofsherwood.org. On the upper right-hand side of your 
computer screen you will see the link to join the Webex meeting. You may also print or save a copy of the 
complete meeting packet. 

1) Call to Order/Roll Call. 
2) Pledge of Allegiance. 
3) Approval of the Agenda. 
4) Approval of Minutes: May 18 (Special Meeting). 
5) Citizen comments on agenda items. 
6) Officer's Report 

a. Plan Commission — Chair. 
b. Zoning Administrator. 

7) Old Business: 
a. Fire Pit regulation: Ordinance review (Summers). 
b. Open Burning: Survey results (Salo). 
c. Area Development Plan (ADP #2020-01): Consider development proposal (Parcel 

#13697; 10.2acres; Schulz, Burzynski). Note: Previous plan reviewed in 1997 for 
development as Sherwood Forest 2nd  Addition. Only one lot approved, via CSM, for 
construction of a single-family home (Schultz). 

8) New Business: None. 
9) Correspondences: None. 
10) Adjourn. 

Welcome to the Village of Sherwood Plan Commission Meeting 
To assist the Commission in conducting its business, we ask that you observe the following: 
1. Please speak only to items on the agenda. 
2. Please limit your presentation to three (3) minutes. 
3. Please do not address the Commissioners during deliberations unless requested to do so. 
4. Any item listed on the Agenda may be acted upon by the Commission. 
5. Requests from persons w/ disabilities who need assistance to participate should be made to the Clerk's Office (989-1589). 
6. A quorum of Village Board members may be present at this meeting. Their presence is for informational purposes only, and no 

business or action of the Village Board will be transacted. 

P1 



Sherwood Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Special Meeting 

May 18, 2020 

NOTE: Due to COVID-19 restrictions, residents are not allowed in the Village Hall but may 'join' the meeting 
at 6:30pm via WebEx meeting home page at www.villageofsherwood.org. On the upper right-hand side of your 
computer screen you will see the link to join the WebEx meeting. You may also print or save a copy of the 
complete meeting packet. 

1) Call to Order/Roll Call — Chairman Summers called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
with roll call: 	Present 	 Absent 

Jean DeKeyser (virtual) 	None 
Bob Gillespie 	 Others Present 
Joyce Laux 	 Randy Friday, Administrator 
Kathy Salo (virtual) 	Kathy Mader, Acting Clerk 
Brad Schmidt 	 Craig Hamilton, AIT 
Scott Sheppard (virtual 
Steve Summers 

2) Pledge of Allegiance — Recited 

3) Approval of the Agenda — Schmidt moved to approve the agenda. Laux seconded 
Motion carried unanimously. 

4) Approval of Minutes: March 2 — Gillespie moved to approve the March 2, 2020 meeting 
minutes. Schmidt seconded. Motion carried unanimously. 

5) Citizen comments on agenda items 
• Bob Anderson (virtual) N7829 S Niagara Ct 	Re: 7 c — 7 f 

Anderson believes the High Cliff Golf Course proposed development will be a 
high density develop and suggests the Village consider revising the high-density 
policy. He also inquired whether or not the Village engineer checked the traffic 
issues as suggested by the Plan Commission at the March meeting? Would it be 
gated as suggested by Corey Feller, HCGC? He requests the PC to take these 
concerns into consideration before moving forward. 

• Lucia Moburg (virtual) W4864 Forest Lane 	Re: 7 c — 7 f 
Moburg opined the preservation of Sherwood as it is today is to care for the 
future generations of Sherwood. She questioned why progress needs to be 
development rather than the preservation of the existing. 

• Craig Booher (virtual) W4897 Golf Course Rd 	Re: 7 c — 7 f 
Booher expressed concern regarding the traffic at the intersection of Golf Course 
Road and Palisades Trail. He requests the Plan Commission to not approve the 
development. 

PC Meeting Minutes 	 May 18, 2020 	 Page 1 of 4 

P2 



• Roland Smoot (virtual) N7779 Spurline Ct 	Re: 7 c — 7 f 
Smoot stated he had a direct conversation with Dan Rippl, High Cliff Golf 
Course, and understands the reason HCGC needs to build the development is 
because they bought the High Cliff'Restaurant and, now, they need revenue. 

6) Officer's Report 
a. Plan Commission — Chair — Summers thanked Sheppard for chairing the March 2 

meeting and stated the Open Burning results and Fire Pit Regulations discussion will 
be moved to the June agenda. 

Summers reminded everyone in attendance (in personand via virtual) the Plan 
Commission is a recommending body. Therefore, the final discussion to approve or 
deny will occur at the Village Board level. 

b. Zoning Administrator — Friday said the permitting season is very busy and, in the 
near future, there might be discussion regarding the current versus future use of 
Sherwood Forest Golf Course property. 

7) Old Business: 
a. Open Burning: Survey results (Salo; June). 

b. Fire Pit regulation: Ordinance review (Summers; June). 

NOTE: For prior information regarding items 7c thru 7f., refer to March 2. 
New information, only, included in May 18 paper copy packet.  

c. RP #2019-01: (Note: Public Hearing conducted March 2) A rezoning petition (Drive 
Fore Success, LLC) to rezone parcel #13425 (18th  Hole) from IR-1 to IR-2 zoning 
district. — Salo moved and Laux seconded to recommend Village Board approval of 
RP #2019-01, rezoning parcel #13425 from IR-1 to IR-2, contingent upon the 
Village Board negating or dissolving the 2010 Developer's Agreement. Unanimous 
approval. 

Schmidt requested clarification of Village Zoning Code district standards for IR-2 
district; inquired of High Cliff Golf Course representatives and their engineers what 
part of the IR-2 standards will the development not be able to meet if they are 
requesting the PUD. 

Gary Zahringer (virtual), Martenson & Eisele, responding to Schmidt, stated the 
front yard setbacks are 17' versus 30' required in IR-2; the closer-to-the-private-
drive front yard setbacks allow larger backyards that will abut Golf Course Road 
residences. Zahringer explained a normal public street is 66 feet wide road-right-of 
way. While this private development drive area width is considerably smaller since it 
is a private drive. 

PC Meeting Minutes 	 May 18, 2020 	 Page 2 of 4 

P3 



Sheppard stated the High Cliff Golf Course is a private entity not a public entity such 
as the High Cliff State Park, therefore, their financial situation is not an issue for the 
Plan Commission. 

Gillespie requested clarification of the motion. Salo explained, since the TID 1 is 
closed, to consider approval or denial of this item, the agreement should be negated 
or dissolved. 

Salo questioned Dan Rippl (virtual), High Cliff Golf Course, if they would consider a 
lower density development, for example 10 buildings with 20 units. Rippl responded it 
would not be fiscally prudent for the needed revenue. 

d. PUD #2019-02: (Note: Public Hearing conducted March 2) Consider a Planned Unit 
Development (22 buildings as 44 duplex units) based on RP #2019-01 (Drive Fore 
Success, LLC) allowing development of duplex units on current 18th  Hole of HCGC 
(11.3 acres) — Gillespie moved to recommend the Village Board approve PUD 
#2019-02 conditional upon completion of the WDNR wetland delineation study. 
Laux seconded. Dekeyser — Nay, Gillespie — Aye, Laux — Aye, Salo — Nay, Schmidt 
— Nay, Sheppard — Nay, Summers — Aye. Vote 4-3 to deny. 

e. CPA #2020-01: (Note: Public Hearing conducted March 2) A Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment in concert with RP #2019-01 and/or PUD #2019-02 regarding the land 
use of High Cliff Golf Course Hole #18 (Parcel #13425; Drive Force Success, LLC); 
Maps 8-3 (Land Use) and 8-4 (Future Land Use) — Sheppard moved to recommend 
the Village Board approve CPA #2020-01, Comprehensive Plan Amendment in 
concert with RP #2019-01, regarding the land use of High Cliff Golf Course Hole 
#18, Parcel #13425; Maps 8-3 (Land Use) and 8-4 (Future Land Use). Gillespie 
seconded. Dekeyser — Nay, Gillespie — Aye, Laux — Aye, Salo — Aye, Schmidt — Aye, 
Sheppard — Aye, Summers — Aye. Vote 6-1 to approve. 

f. Concept Plan: (Tabled from Dec, 2019) Consider updated High Cliff Golf Course 
(Drive Fore Success, LLC) proposed development on 18th  hole (Parcel #13425) —
Gillespie moved to recommend Village Board approval of the updated Concept Plan 
for the High Cliff Golf Course proposed development on the 18th hole, Parcel 
#13425. Laux seconded DeKeyser — Nay, Gillespie — Aye, Laux — Aye, Salo — Aye, 
Schmidt — Nay, Sheppard — Aye, Summers — Aye. Vote 5-2 to approve. 

8) New Business: 
a. Area Development Plan (ADP # 2020-01): Consider development proposal (Parcel 

#13697; 10.2acres; Schulz, Burzynski). Note: Previous plan reviewed in 1997 for 
development as Sherwood Forest 2nd  Addition. Only one lot approved, via CSM, for 
construction of a single-family home (Schultz) — In consensus, the Plan Commission 
suggested Burzynski continue discussions with a civil engineer to ensure the utilities 
on the ADP are placed in such a way as to not impact possible future lot(s) 
development. 

PC Meeting Minutes 
	

May 18, 2020 	 Page 3 of 4 

P4 



9) Correspondences: 
a. (Per P.C. request) Legal Review of 2010 'Redevelopment Agreement' between 

Village and High Cliff Golf Course, Inc. (Town Counsel Law & Litigation, LLC; 
March 25) — Reviewed. 

b. Consideration for guidelines regarding 'Open Burning' [post-Survey] (Kosiorek; 
March 29) — Reviewed. 

c. Condon Road project: T-33 aircraft/Veteran's Memorial location (American Legion 
Post #496; May 7) — Reviewed. 

d. HCGC Agenda business items (see above): 'Comments regarding The Cottages 
project', 'Responses to Citizen Letter', 'A Letter from the CEO' (HCGC — Dan 
Rippl; May 14) — Reviewed. 

10) Adjourn — Schmidt moved to adjourn at 8:48 p.m. Laux seconded Motion carried 
unanimously. 

Respectfully submitted for review and approval by Kathy Mader, Acting Clerk 

PC Meeting Minutes 	 May 18, 2020 	 Page 4 of 4 

P5 



Randy Friday 

From: 	 Steve Summers <stevesummers31@gmail.com> 
Sent: 	 Tuesday, May 26, 2020 8:36 AM 
To: 	 Randy Friday 
Subject: 	 Fwd: little chute burning 

614/  V:tandy. Will you please attach to the P/C agenda for June 1 for the discussion on fire pits. Thanks. 

	Forwarded message 	 
From: <bobmarbenz7@aol.com> 
Date: Wed, Apr 29, 2020 at 3:11 PM 
Subject: Re: little chute burning 
To: stevesummers31(4rnail.com  <stevesummers31(almail.com> 

B1, 9 , and 10 are the items that I believe relate to propane and gas fuels. 

	Original Message 
From: Steve Summers <stevesummers31agmail.com> 
To: bobmarbenz7a.aol.com   
Sent: Wed, Apr 29, 2020 2:41 pm 
Subject: Re: little chute burning 

Thanks Bob. Just to be sure are items #9, 10, and 12 the items you are referencing? 
On Tue, Apr 28, 2020 at 4:26 PM <bobmarbenz7aol.com> wrote: 

Steve Summers 
W4921 Carrington Court 
Sherwood, Wisconsin 54169 
920-650-2698 Cell 

Steve Summers 
W4921 Carrington Court 
Sherwood, Wisconsin 54169 
920-650-2698 Cell 

P6 

1 



Village of Little Chute 
REQUEST FOR VILLAGE BOARD CONSIDERATION 

ITEM DESCRIPTION: Open Burning Ordinance Amendment 

PREPARED BY: James P. Fenlon, Administrator 	f 

REPORT DATE: February 14, 2020 

EXPLANATION: In 2019 we discussed open burning. During that discussion, it was brought to 
our attention that our ordinance did not account for fire tables using propane or natural gas. Chief 
Jansen has provided drafts of that amendment and it is attached for your review. Finally, there was 
a condition added to clarify unacceptable materials. The amendment is attached for your review. 

We will plan to bring this to the board for action on March 4th. 

RECOMMENDATION: This is for discussion and feedback only. We will present at a 
, future date for formal action. 

CADocurnonts aid Settingsijferion1DesidopWillage Board ad Notes9FCs 	 2/14/2020 2:06:31 PM 

P7 



Sec. 18-27. - Open burning. 

(a) Prohibited. No person shall build any outdoor fire within the corporate limits of the village except as 
set forth in subsection (b) of this section. Any permit issued is valid for one week. This prohibition on 
burning includes burning of construction waste and debris at construction sites. 

(b) Conditions. No open outdoor fires are permitted unless the following conditions apply: 

Only woods  sr-charcoal  or propane and natural gas fuels may be utilized. 

Fire containment devices including pits shall not be permitted within 25 feet of any combustible 
or structure, or within ten feet of a lot line unless mutually agreed upon by the neighboring 
property owner. 

(3) The fire must be attended at all times by an adult with access to a fire extinguisher or garden 
hose as a means to extinguish fire readily available. 

(4) No fires are permitted if the wind speed exceeds ten miles per hour. 

(5) Upon completion, the fire must be completely extinguished to prevent accidental reignition. 

(6) Fire pits or other fire containment devices shall not exceed four feet in diameter. 

(7) Flames shall be kept below feur--three feet in height above the pit or other fire containment 
device. 

8  Portable listed and rated fire pits shall be used in accordance with the manufacturer's 
recommendations and shall be placed on a non-combustible surface that is at least one and half 
(1.5) times larger than the size of the portable fire pit. In the absence of manufacturer's  
recommendations, fire tables shall be at least fifteen (15) feet from any type of building or 
structure, combustible material of any form, or property line.  

(9) Any propane or natural gas fire tables must follow all manufactures specifications. In the  
absence of manufacturers recommendations fire tables shall be at least 15 feet from any type of 
building or structure, combustible material of any form, or property line.  

(10) All portable fire pits and fire tables must be listed and rated devices. Homemade devices and  
converted grills are prohibitied.  

(11) Only clean dry wood can be burned. The burning of garbage trash, refuse treated wood  
painted/varnished wood, plastic, rubber, construction lumber, and flammable liquids, and/or  
combustible liquids in any form is prohibited. Buminq of leaves, yard waste, or brush is  
prohibited.  

12) Recreational fires barbeque pits, portable fire pits, and portable outdoor fire places are  
permitted on properties zoned residential and occupied by a single or two family residences. 

(c) Chief may prohibit. The fire chief is permitted to prohibit any or all bonfires and outdoor fires when 
atmospheric conditions or local circumstances make such fires hazardous. 

(d) Chief may permit. Controlled burning of grass or similar vegetation for environmental management 
purposes, or ceremonial bonfires, with prior written approval of the fire chief may be permitted. 

(e) Burning on streets. No materials may be burned upon any street, curb, gutter or sidewalk. 

(f) Order to discontinue. The fire chief, his designee, or law enforcement officials are authorized to 
require discontinuance of burning if they determine that smoke emissions are offensive to occupants 
of surrounding properties or if the fire is determined to constitute a hazardous condition. 

(g) Liability. Persons utilizing and maintaining outdoor fires shall be responsible for any liability resulting 
from damage caused by his fire. 

(Code 2006, § 5-2-9; Ord. No. 17(Ser. of 2002), 12-4-2002; Ord. No. 12(Ser. of 2008), § 1, 10-
15-2008) 

P8 



Village of Sherwood 

Draft Fire Pit Guidelines 

A recreational fire is any fire such as a campfire or cooking fire, fire pit or portable fire container for the 

purpose of recreation and personal enjoyment. Fire pits are an allowed activity in the Village of 

Sherwood. Existing fire pits at the adoption of these guidelines should: 

1. Be no closer than 15 feet from any structure. 

2. Should be no larger than 42 inches by 42 inches 

3. Should have a minimum depth of 10 inches and should be covered when not in use. The pit 

should be surrounded on the outside by a non-combustible material such as concrete blocks or 

rocks for a 12 inch width around the perimeter. 

4. Should have a water source or fire extinguisher within 15 feet of the fire pit for fire suppression. 

5. Should have at least one person age 18 or above at the activity. 

6. Should not burn rubbish, garbage, treated wood, hazardous materials, flammable or 

combustible liquids, vinyl plastic or rubber materials. 

7. Should not be started or allowed to continue burning when the wind exceeds ten miles per 

hour. Smoke from any fire should not create a nuisance for any neighbor. 

8. Should be completely extinguished when the activity is completed. 

9. Should be completed within these hours: 1pm to 10 pm Sunday thru Thursday, and 1pm to 

midnight Friday thru Sunday. 

Fire pits constructed after the adoption of these guidelines must be in compliance with items 1-10 

above. 

Drafted by Steve Summers, November 4, 2019. 

P9 



Ql: Do you support open burning in the 
village 

140 - 

120 

100 

80 
66 

60 	  

40 

20 	 

0 -  
NoNo Yes 

118 

Q2: Would you support a property tax 
increase to purchase equipment or 

contract leaf pick up? 

                         

                         

                         

                         

                         

 

40 

                       

              

9 

          

                         

No 	 Yes 	 Other 

Most frequent "Yes" response cited inconvenient hours of the Yard Waste Site 
Most frequent "No" response cited Air Pollution/Health Issues 

Most frequent "Yes" response cited they felt it would reduce the open burning and health hazards 
Most frequent "No" response cited a Yard Waste site already exists but better hours are needed 

"Other" response cited they would consider but need more information 

P10 



Q3: Frequency of Yard Waste Site visits 
70 

59 
60 

50 

40 34 
24 30 

12 
17 19 

20 
10 

10 

0 
More than 

weekly 
Weekly <Weekly, 

>Monthly 
Monthly <Monthly, 

>Yearly 
Yearly Never 

Respondents cited inconvenient Yard Waste Site hours makes burning an easier alternative 

184 respondents of 2,123 voters = 8.7% 

Recommendation: 

*Create an ordinance as recommended by WI DNR using model burning ordinance 
*Ban all leaf burning for residential and commercial properties less than 5 acres 
*If more than 5 acres, only burn when weather conditions are appropriate and must notify Calumet 
County Dispatch 
*Allow burning of small brush/sticks if it fits into a fire pit (burns hotter, faster-less smoke) 
*Encourage mulching for those who choose not to use the yard waste site 
*Enhance yard waste site days and hours of operation 

If leaf burning is not banned: 

*Enhance yard waste site days and hours of operation 
*Allow in October/November by permit only and if weather conditions are appropriate 
*Must notify Calumet County Dispatch 

P11 



A 	j B C D E 

1 

Do you support 

Why or Why not 

Would you support a 

How often do you 

Address: (required) 

property tax increase to 
fund the purchase of 

equipment or contracted 

pickup of leaves and small 

open burning in branches in October and visit the yard 

the Village November waste site 

2 No no 5-Apr W275 Kings Way 

3 Yes 

It is extremely simple, cost effective way of disposing said 

materials, and is being done safely by all. 

It is expensive to use the Sherwood recycling (yard waste 

site) of said materials and extremely in convenient. 

As long as we can burn there is no issue of contracted 

pickup of leaves and small branches in Oct. and Nov.  No. 0 	_ N217 Queens Court 

4 No Should be controled yes weekly N8196 Pond Court 

5 Yes 

Our family enjoys camp fires and the occasional burning of 

yard waste. If the yard waste site was more readily 

available for use i would need to burn less yard waste. The 

smoke from neighbors burning does not bother us. 

No, just keep the yard 

waste site open. Weekly W4806 Questa Ct 



A B  C D E 

6 No 

There has been quite a bit of open burning in our 

neighborhood in recent years and it seems they are burning 

things they shouldn"t be burning because the smell is 

terrible. Others seem to burn on windy days and nice days 

when others would like to have their windows open - - but 

have to immediately shut them as the smoke is coming in. It 

really divides the neighbors and does seem rather rude and 

disrespectful of others homes and space. If it could be done 

on a specific day of the month between given hours or 

something, like every other Saturday from 7am-10am for 

example - - that may be more acceptable as you know when 

it is going to be and you can plan around it. 

No. - I like the yard waste 

option. It is nice to have 

available to us. 1-2x a month N423 Robinhood Drive 

7 Yes 

So burning in a fire pit is not in question? Either way yes I 

support not needing a permit. I moved to the country to not 

need permits for that kind of thing. no about a dozen w428 stumpf ave 

8 Yes No Once per year W5164 Shorewood ct 

9 Yes NO Once annually W5164 Shorewood court 

10 No 

There are people who have respiratory problems and having 

all the smoke from the burning leaves may cause issues. Yes 5 times a year W5044 Cherrywood Dr 

11 No 

I don"t think residents will be respectful or safe with open 

burning. Yes 

Multiple times 

every month W4793 Cliff View Dr 

12 No The smoke and smell are bothersome to my allergies. Depends on cost 8x/year N7883 Cliffwood Drive 

13 No 

I only support burning in a firepit or burn barrel. Any 

burning outside of a fire pit or burn barrel may get out of 

control and cause damage to resident property or beyond. No 5 times per year N7907 Creekside Drive 



A B C D E 

14 No 

I only support burning in a firepit or burn barrel. Any 

burning outside of a fire pit or burn barrel may get out of 

control and cause damage to resident property or beyond. No 5 times per year N7907 CREEKSIDE DR 

15 Yes 

It is a cheap and convenient way to get rid of yard waste 

such as leaves and brush. Able to get rid of it as you are 

cleaning up your yard vs. having to load things on a 

trailer/vehicle to take to the yard waste site. No Never N352 Military Road 

16 Yes 

It is a cheap and convienient way to get rid of yard waste 

like leaves and brush. You can get rid of it as you are 

cleaning your yard by burning it vs having to load a trailer or 

a vehicle to take to a yard waste site. No Never N352 Military Road 

17 No 

Houses are too close together to safely burn and most 

people don"t properly prepare for controlled burns (i.e. 

water supply ready, small piles, checking wind conditions, 

etc.). No Never N7926 Ridgeview Ct 

18 Yes 

I can freely get rid of my leaves and brush when I decide to 

rake and landscape by burning at home. It also does not cost 

me anything. With a proposed taxed designated time for 

leaf collections I would have to rake immediately prior to 

pick up so that leaves don"t blow through the 

neighborhood no once a year n7881 bluffside court 

19 Yes Yes  Occasional N8086 Deere Dr 

20 No 	 _Lt.'s 

Three people in our household have asthma that is 

aggravated by smoke, including smoke from brush burning. 

We can drive by it in Darboy and my son coughs 

continuously until we can get his rescue inhaler in him. 	For 

this is a health and safety issue. 	 _ 

To some extent yes. Our 

taxes are high as it is given 

the incredible increase to 

our tax base and no 

munciple services like a 

police department. 

1-2 times a year, 

but multiple trips 

at those times. W5260 Waterview Dr. 



A B C D 	
1 

E 

21 No 

For the same reason smoking is not allowed in public places. 

A person can choose to get away from cigarette smoke, I 

can"t leave my home nor should I need to shut windows 

after smoke has entered my home. We live in a village, not 

in rural Harrison or St. John! Smudge fires left unattended 

all day (usually on weekends) need to be banned. no 12 times per year N7914 Creekside Drive 

22 No 

Smell/Odor...can't open up house on nice fall day and enjoy 

time outside. Yes 

lx per week in 

summer / fall W5231 Natures Way Dr.  
f 	 _ 

23 Yes 

Yard waste site limited hours. Be great if the site could be 

code locked for residents to come and go as they please. 

The 2-6 PM on Tues/Thursday and 9 am - Noon Saturday can 

make it impossible.rm assuming most of us work daily 9 to 

5s? Normally, I am doing my yard work on Saturday 

mornings and will not be ready in time to drop off by noon. 

Most of the time I end having to park outside the gate and 

drag in my yard waste on tarps.1"cl also be open to raising 

taxes to bring in some more gravel so it isn"t a mud pit. Yes 

When its open? 

Once a month if 

lucky. N7878 State Park Rd 

24 Yes 

Because fires outside are nice to have at all times of the 

year. no 3 N8610 



A B C D E 

25 No 

It is just creates such an overwhelming smell and air quality 

that makes it difficult to even be outdoors when the air is 

filled with smoke smell - and often times what is being 

burned that shouldn"t be burned (trash etc) causes an even 

more disgusting smell. And it"s so frustrating when there"s 

a day you can finally have windows open for FRESH air and 

then you CAN"T because people are burning and smoke 

smell filtrates into your home. There"s just no good time to 

burn. And having the yardwaste site available prevents the 

need to burn. No 

Usually every 

other week or so 

Spring - Fall. N423 Robinhood Dr. 

26 Yes 

Yes. As long as the open burning of leaves is done 

thoughtfully regarding neighbors and wind direction. I am 

aware that many people are bothered by smoke inhalation 

and if I know my neighbors have an adverse reaction to 

smoke I would not burn. Can leaf burning be restricted to a 

designated time in the Fall? 

Open burning of logs in fire pits I do not view as an issue 

regarding smoke production. 

Would the pickup of leaves and small branches ever be 

extended ain the future to a composting service that would 

benefit local farms such as those offered, for example, by 

compostcrusaders.com  and compostexpress.com  in 

Milwaukee and curbsidecomposter.com  and 

earthstewcompostservice in Madison. Lloyd &Jan Hughes 

5 or 6 times a 

season the rest of 

the time we rely 

on our garden 

service to haul 

away leaves and 

garden debris W4891 Escarpment Terrace 



A B C D E 

27 No 

Yes. As long as the open burning of leaves is done 

thoughtfully regarding neighbors and wind direction. I am 

aware that many people are bothered by smoke inhalation 

and if I know my neighbors have an adverse reaction to 

smoke I would not burn. Can leaf burning be restricted to a 

designated time in the Fall? 

Open burning of logs in fire pits I do not view as an issue 

regarding smoke production. 

Would the pickup of leaves and small branches ever be 

extended ain the future to a composting service that would 

benefit local farms such as those offered, for example, by 

compostcrusaders.com  and compostexpress.com  in 

Milwaukee and curbsidecomposter.com  and 

earthstewcompostservice in Madison. yes 

every couple of 

weeks or more N 7868 State Park Rd 

28 No 

1. Village provides a waste site for garden and yard waste. 

This then provides free mulch for the residents. 

2. Open burning adds additional carbon dioxide(green house 

gases) to the atmosphere. 

3. Depending on wind conditions the burning is an 

annoyance for neighbors throughout the village. 

4. Residents with breathing conditions are affected by the 

open burning with no effective way to stop smoke 

inhalation. 

NO, the waste site is free. 

No reason to increase 

taxes. 

Spring 2X per 

' wk/Summer 2X 

per mo/fall 2X/wk W5011 Cherrywood Dr 

29 Yes As long as there is not much smoke it affects me none. No Not much N 438 Meehl St. 

, 30 No 

There are better ways to dispose of your yard waste than 

burn it. The negative impact on the environment is my main 

concern. yes once a week N 7868 State Park Rd. 



A B C D E 

31 Yes 

Backyard fires are enjoyable to have year round. Limiting 

the size is very subjective and will be challenging to burn. 

Being able to occasionally dispose of brush and leaves by 

burning is also important. Many yards in the village are 

sloped or have trees that drop leaves and branches 

throughout much of the year. The yard waste site hours are 

very inconvenient and often times when weather or 

schedules allow residents to pick up their leaves and 

branches, the site isn"t open. Generally speaking, Sherwood 

is a large lot and spread apart village without homes very 

close together. We don"t have the same design as a packed 

city like Appleton where more intense regulation is 

warranted. Going the route of intense burning regulations 

and or implementing burning permits is something this 

Village is not set up to handle staffing wise and will likely 

lead to further neighbor quarrels about times of a fire that 

cant be enforced at 2am, or neighbors arguing over a size 

of a fire. How about just educate residents about 

responsible open burning and offer better opportunities to 

dispose of items than currently exist. Yes 

2x a year. I use a 

parents woods 

and have even 

used Harrison 

because of the 

access limitations 

at Sherwood W4878 Escarpment Terrace 

32 Yes 

Smoke doesn"t bother me. 

Also, I would like to have the opportunity to burn brush. NO 2-3 times per year N664 Military Rd. 

33 Yes 

IThe hours for the yard waste site are not always convenient. 

It would be nice to have an alternative method of disposal. no A few times/year W5279 Arbor Vitae Ct 

34 Yes 

I think it is not only a fast efficient way of getting rid of 

leaves and brush but to be perfectly honest I like the smell 

in the air. No 

f•- 

Perhaps 3 or 4 

times a year W4745 Nicklaus Ct 

35 Yes les a good way to get rid of leaves and it smells good. No 

Perhaps 3 or 4 

times a year W4745 Nicklaus Ct 
36 No NO Twice a year N 427 Military 



A B 	 J 	C D E 

37 Yes 

The yard waste site closes for the year before I can get all 

the leaves off my property. The willow in my backyard 

doesn"t drop its leaves until early December. I would like to 

be able to burn them if the yard waste site is not an option. 

Thanks for asking! no 

weekly during 

spring\fall 

cleanup N7759 Palisades TRL 

38 No 

We have had hot ashes fall on our roof, deck and outdoor 

furniture. one fall evening a neighborhood smelly fire 

triggered our smoke alarm. No Thanks 

Once a 

week,more in 

Spring and Fall N6009 Timberline Drive 

39 No 

We have had hot ashes fall on our roof, deck and outdoor 

furniture. one fall evening a neighborhood smelly fire 

triggered our smoke alarm. No Thanks 

Once a 

week,more in 

Spring and Fall N6009 Timberline Drive 

40 No 

Too many risk factors and people playing with fire. It is 

done as a weekend convenience in a lot of cases, and they 

don"t factor in risk to themselves or others. 

no, but I do support the 

idea,especially November 

at least 2 

times/month W5027 Cherrywood Dr 

41 Yes 

We enjoy sitting outside with a campfire. es relaxing. 

We moved to Sherwood because it"s a village. We don"t 

want Sherwood to evolve into a city. 

If a neighbor"s smoke is bothering us, we would go over to 

tell them and perhaps just stay to enjoy their fire. No 

1 to 3 times per 

week N7874 Edgewater CT 

42 No No once/twice a year W5118 Natures Way Drive 

43 Yes If it does not effect the neighbors I believe it is harmless. Yes 

10 or 12 times a 

year. N8157 Big Lake Ln 

44 No Toxic air pollution; can"t enjoy my back yard. yes 2x per month W4865 Forest Ln 



A B 	 t 	 C D E 

45 Yes 

Obviously there are always going to be a few individuals 

who do not show common sense or neighborly concern 

when the are burning, either related to size of the fire or 

contents put in the fire. That being said the vast majority of 

residents have common sense and show neighborly 

concern, and should be allowed to have the choice to open 

burn. Yes Monthly N515 Royal Court 

46 Yes 

95% of the residents in Sherwood are responsible adults and 

have or will take "open burning" seriously. The potential of 

abuse of the new ordinance would be minimal in my eyes. 

Yes - Less "Open Burning" 

would occur then! 

hours are not very 

friendly for 

"working" 

residents . If you 

are retired then W5163 Natures Way Drive 

47 Yes 

Sherwood is a small community that has rural parts. Let's 

preserve the rural setting that we all moved here for. No 

Twice a month in 

the summer and 

weekly in the fall. N436 Robinhood Dr 

48 Yes because it's something that shouldn"t be regulated no 2 W5472 

49 No 

It smells so bad and when our neighbors do it, its always 

very smokey, you can"t even go outside and the smoke 

penetrates into the house. 

Not really usually weekly W4887 Mustang Dr.  

50 Yes We need to get rid of our leaves. no 

()FLU Uf twie d 

week W4862 bridle rd. 

51 No Yes 

Multiple times 

each month it is 

open and for 

Christmas tree 

disposal. W4712 WINDSOR CT 



52 Yes 

When I moved here in 2002, I called and asked when I could 

burn, they said when the smoke does not blow toward your 

house. How cool! 

Shared that story many times with people outside of our 

beautiful area. The state park, the village park, the green 

space, the ponds. They are all envious. Love it here. 

Dan Kroiss No Never N7894 Creekside Dr 

53 Yes most of our smoke comes from fire pits not open burning no 0 N7639 LOWER CLIFF RD 

54 Yes 

I live on the lake and we are experiencing huge losses of our 

White Willows and White Ash. l"m constantly cleaning up 

not only just branches that fall down in the winds but large 

trees as well. Between all the leaves I have that fall each 

year and larger branches that are not accepted in the yard 

waste site not to mention my schedule hardly seems to 

match the site"s, burning is my best option. 1"m very 

cognizant of my neighbors and only burn when the wind is 

pushing the smoke out to the lake. 

NO! I pay $14000/yr Thats 

enough! 

Once or twice 

because my 

schedule N7821 State Park Road 



1 A B C D E 

55 No 

Our neighbor has a fire pit about 20 feet outside their back 
patio. They burn their recycle materials in it (including 
plastic). The toxic smoke smells and comes in our windows 
during the summer (we can still smell it when our windows 
are closed). They also, admittedly, burn their credit cards in 
their fire pit rather than shredding them. It creates a 
horrible stench as well as toxic smoke. I think a mailed 
reminder to Sherwood residents outlining what is, and is not 
acceptable should be done without including anything else 
in it. Otherwise, the message about appropriate use of fire 
pits gets lost. 

We take our brush and leaves to the local site which is more 
than adequate. No 

Every other week 
when it's open N7830 State Park Rd 

56 No 

Smoke contains contaminants and degrades our air quality. 
The Times-Villager published our letter stating our view that 
smoke from outdoor burning is hazardous to health in the 
September 28, 2019 issue.This correlates with the concerns 
expressed by Little Chute residents published in the Augut 
28, 2019 issue of the paper. We understand that people feel 
that they have the right to have outdoor fires, but we also 
have the right to breathe clean,uncontaminated air in our 
own yard. Also take into consideration people with health 
issues that are forced to breathe contaminants that are in 
the smoke. Yes 

Approximately 6 
times per year W200 KINGS WAY 

57 Yes 
No safety concerns. Easy way to get rid of yard waste. Bon 
fires are fun gatherings with family and friends. yes 5 times per year W4704 Nature Ct 



A B C 	
, 	

D 

58 No 

I have a wood burning fire pit and enjoy it. I believe in taking 

leaves and brush to the village site. 

'weekly when it is 	' 

no 	 lopen W5241 Natures Way Dr. 

59 No because i like fires no 13 W160 kings 

60 Yes 

We don"t need to legislate everything. Most residence have 

common sense and are considerate of others. For the few 

that that are not considerate, the Sheriff can handle those 

situations. 

It could be a possibility. I 

would have to know more 

'when open two or 

three times a 

month W210 Kings Way 

61 Yes 

I don"t burn my leaves, I mulch them. With that being said, I 

don"t mind or have issues with others burning leaves. No 3-5 times annually N430 Meehl St. 

62 Yes no 2 N426 

63 No buildings to close, smoke in your house yes 15-Dec n7800 cliffwood dr 

64 No 

We have a yard waste place to take our yard waste too ! So 

NO need to burn it ! 

As for what Little Chute does with PEOPLE PAYING to use 

their yard waste place , is B.S. 

As for open pit fires, ONLY if wood is burned in them and 

nothing else and they are used in the evenings for 

recreational use , with people sitting around them, like at 

camp sites ! 

I don't like it when we have a nice beautiful day and want 

to let fresh air into the house , I open the windows and 

smell burning materials coming in , instead of fresh air !!! 

NO !!! 

8 to 10 times a 

month W5257 Nature's Way Drive 

65 1Yes I have too many leaves to transport to waste site. 

Possibly, depending on 

price 

Zero because I 

have too many 

leaves and 

branches to haul, 

therefore, we 

burn Bridle Road 



A B C 	 1. 	D E 

66 Yes 

I am in particular in support of all residents firepits. I know 

this say that"s not included but the newspaper indicated 

that was also included in the discussion. The state park 

allows fires also so it would be unfair to not allow citizens. 

No, people can use the 

waste site that"s what it"s 

for which we already pay 

taxes for. Weekly N7771 STATE PARK RD 

67 Yes 

Do not want government telling me what I can and cant do 

on my own property. 

No: We can use waste 

site. Weekly N7771 STATE PARK RD 

68 Yes 

I don"t feel that this a very big issue in the village. Not 

everything needs an ordinance. Some things should be left 

to individuals to do or not to do. No 1 time per year. W4916 Golf Course Rd 

69 No Not good for the environment and our health. No Once a week N7836 Lakeshore Lane 

70 Yes 

Requiring permits is an obstacle to getting the work done 

when time and nature allow. Will it cost money to get a 

permit? People will find a way around it, and soon we will 

need a permit for a simple small campfire. Who/How would 

this be enforced? les opening up an unnecessary can of 

worms. NO 6 times a year W5082 Fox Lane 

71 No 

Health and climate concerns. I think people with small back 

yard fire bowls or fire pits could be allowed to continue 

'using them. I also think people could be 

encouraged/educated as to the benfits of mulching their 

leaves. possibly 

3-4 or more times 

a year-- we do not 

have a trailer W5043 Cherrywood Drive 



A 	I B C D E 

72 No 

It is dangerous for health reasons. It would mean that some 

people who live here, cannot even go outside on their own 

deck or yard or leave their windows open if neighbors are 

burning. Also there is a potential for the fire to get out of 

control. How does one limit the size of the fire and/or 

control its perimeter--we have seen a fire pit party where 

the flames were 12 feet tall. 

no--that is what yard 

waste site is for and it is 

not limited to 2 months twice a month w4937 Spring Ct. 

73 Yes 

Residents should be allowed to have fires on their property 

using good judgement. We were notified by a police officer 

a couple years ago that we should call Calumet County non-

emergency to let them know we are having a fire so they 

can add us to the list each time. If open burning continues 

to be allowed maybe that information could be shared with 

residents. no 2-3 per year N7907 Edgewater Ct. 

74 Yes no 6-10 a year W410 Margaret Ct 

75 Yes 

I enjoy quite nights around a campfire in the 

spring/summer/fall. I also use it to clean up my yard by 

burning small sticks or what have you, putting an ordinance 

in to stop open burning would be a huge inconvenience and 

frankly pointless. I feel all my neighbors are courteous 

enough with their burning that it isnt an issue. No Never W4887 spring hill dr. 

76 Yes 

IWe are next to High Cliff State park which draws a lot of 

village residents because they like the outdoors. Camp fires 

are park that experience along with many other activities. 

Why take that away from us or Diminish the experience buy 

confining it to one of the store bought camp fire containers. 

How about keeping the 

dump site open and 

unattended during busy 

times of the year. 

when opentwice 

month W210 Kings Way 



A B C D E 

77 No 

Burning of large wet leaf piles is a public nuisance. The 

smoke often blows directly at neighboring houses (away 

from the pile) and forces everyone to seal up all windows 

and hunker down on perfectly beautiful fall days. We move 

to Sherwood to be close to nature and relax. The leaf fires 

make it more like burning oil fields. Yes Very rarely W4851 Black Cherry Ct 

78 Yes 

To change the ordinance based on the lies and 

exaggerations of 1 person is ridiculous! The Village needs to 

enforce the ordinances and codes they already have, rather 

than make up new ones to placate a hateful, spiteful liar! 

(Dale Decoursin) Stop humoring this individual and stick to 

real issues in the Villagew I I Absolutely NO! 

A few times in the 

fall W275 Kings Way 

79 Yes 

I think it is fine as long as it is done in such a way as to not 

be a nuisance to your neighbors which would require some 

kind of regulation Yes Few times a year W5039 Cherrywood Drive 

80 Yes convenience no! 3 days a year W612 Clifton 

81 Yes 

We have a lot of mature trees and rely on burning to rid our 

yard of leaves. We have no way of getting the leaves to the 

yard waste site. In addition, we enjoy having bonfires. NO Never W4872 Escarpment Terrace 

82 s Yes 

My family enjoys bonfires, and we burn leaves in the fall. 

We have lots of trees and can"t get the leaves to the yard 

waste site. No Never W4872 Escarpment Terrace 

83 Yes 

I support back yard fire pits but not large fires for brush 

burning. We have a waste site so there is no need to burn. 

I equate a fire pit to a wood fireplace (I have neither BTW). 

We ban fire pits and what is the next step? Fireplaces? 

Charcoal grills? Yes, they all produce benzo pyrene but so do 

the planes that fly over the north end of lake approaching 

ATW airport. My vote is to not turn Sherwood into a nanny 

village. 

No 3 or 4 times a year N7815 State Park Rd 

84 Yes 

I believe that property holders should have the right to have 

a fireplace or a burning pit in their yard. yes 2x"s per month N441 Military Rd 

85 Yes 

I moved into Sherwood 30 yrs. ago because of the wooded 

areas. Burning allows me to keep my lot clean of fallen 

branches and leaves in the fall. I burn leaves as few times as 
possible. Approx. 3-4 times. Of course the occasional 
backyard fire in my standing fire pit is nice too. 

Minimal. Why can"t 

Sherwood be like other 
municipalities that provide 

this. 
A couple of times 

a year. W4879 Bridle Rd 



A B C D E 

86 Yes Homeowners should have that option. yes once per month N441 Military Rd 

87 Yes 

I have not found open burning to be a nuisance in the 
village. My personal opinion is that it is not an issue of 
concern currently. No 

1 to 2 times per 
year N317 Military Rd 

88 
.,- 

Yes no 2-6 times/yr W4716 Nature Ct 

89 Yes no never. I burn N7853 NIAGARA CT N 

90 Yes I enjoy having fires and burning brush No Not often N654 military rd 

91 Yes 
IT IS GOOD FOR WEED CONTROL & WE SHOULD NOT NEED 
TO GET A PERMIT TO BURN IN OUR OWN YARD NO 2-3 YEAR n477 margaret ct 

92 Yes 
I DONT THINK I SHOULD NEED A PERMIT TO BURN ON MY 
OWN PROPERTY NO 2-3 TIMES/ YEAR n477 margaret ct 

93 Yes 

We live out here to avoid needing a "permit" for everything. 

If I wanted that, I would live in town. Also, the yard waste 
site isn"t open year round. And I live near the yard waste 
site, and wouldnt want it open year round either - I dont like 
the extra traffic driving past our home. No 0 N654 Military Rd. 

94 Yes 

Open burning allows us to easily burn leaves in spring and 
fall. It also allows for sharing great times with family and 
friends around a pit fire. No 

Once a month 
when open W190 Kings Way 

95 Yes 

I have fond memories of our family sitting around our fire 

pit cooking camp style meals and roasting marshmallows. It 
would be a shame to lose this privaledge and forego the 
opportunity for other children to enjoy these family 
moments. No 

3-4 times per 
year. W190 Kings Way 



A B C D E 

96 Yes 

Burning allows us to clean our yard without having to haul 

many many many loads on limited days and work times 

conflict, limited trailer option. And the debri blows into 

others yard, west winds on the niagra escarpment are 

always prominent, so leaving by curb pick up more mess 

than one could think. Burning is not on a weekely basis for 

clean up, only seasonally. So being a good neigbor one has 

tolerance for others alike, due to the situation of smoke, 

and not done intentionally to irritate neighbors on purpose. 

Friend and Family traditions, commorodity and memories 

are made by enjoying a open cooked fire meal or a small 

gathering around a campfire. All done with good intentions 

not to irritate anyone on purpose. It is a matter of toletance 

and understanding that one day you will be the same to 

allow them to do so. Burning of wood is not harmful. Health 

is a concern, we are a family of astmatics/allergies, so other 

items other than natural organics isn"t allowed, why would 

one/families relax by a fire if items were toxic. Stupidity. 

Firefighters wear masks due to unforseen burning products, 

not natrual products one sits by. We moved to sherwood 

25 yrs, love it for its naturalness and being in nature and all 

that goes with it. No 

More than 4 times 

a year W190 Kings Way 

97 Yes 

No, leave the yard waste 

site open. You don"t need 

Ito man it with a 

"woodchip nazi" 7 times/ year 428 Veterans Ave 

98 Yes 

I feel if most of the village is responsible adults why should 

we change it for unresponsible individuals that ruin it for 

everybody else that have been respectful of others when 

they burn — I think in this day and age most people don't 

have the cash to put in a propane line to the fire pit. 

Second I think the individuals that are being negligent or 

nuisance to their neighbors should be charged not just 

warned because if they were warned then they just harass 

their neighbors and then it just gets to be a big drama fest ! No 1-2 x W230 Kings Way 

99 Yes No 2x a year N317 Military Road 



A B C D E 

100 No 

no 

yes 

We don"t want Sherwood to become too restrictive and not 

allow campfires in pits or outdoor fireplaces. You start 

restricting one part and it would open the door to keep 

restricting the citizens. Also businesses burn their brush and 

leaves which would cost them money with this ban. This 

increase in their Costs would be passed onto their 

customers. Absolutely no! 

Probably a little 

less then once a 

week when it is 

opened N7830 Lakeshore lane 

101 

homes are too close together. Sparks may cause a fire on 

near buildings 

Yard waste site 

should be open in 

April Sundwon Ct 

1 
102 

Yard waste site is not open late enough in November of for 

enough days ? How much 

lx per week, 2x if 

grass grows fast Questa Ct 

103 yes 

but... smoke is the issue "if anyone complains, then the burn 

must stop" any other rule leaves room for problems. Rule 

idea 1) Check w/neighbors, 2) put out fire or modify fire if 

anyone complains 3) get 1 warning then fine 4) if this 

system fails, then ban any leaf burning 1/yr Nature Ln 

104 yes 

You shouldn't need a permit for this. It would just be a 

'nanny-state" regulation. Seems like a pointless regulation 

to us. Would people even follow it? depends on how much 4x per yr. Lakeshore Ln 

105 no 

it smokes out the inside of my house, causes smoke smell 

for months. Harbors woodchucks, rats, mice! Weeds get six 

ft in height, creates home for these animals and brings them 

under porches, out buildings etc. no 

couple times or 

when need per yr. lower cliff rd 

106 no 

this means more people will be burning, which adds to air 

pollution. Most people don't pay attention to it its blowing 

in their neighbors windows. And safety wise, will they start 

an adjoining field on fire? no 2-4x per month pigeon rd 

107 no 

most burning outside of fire pit is for leaves. Burning leaves 

is very obnoxious (smoke) I would prefer no leaf burning 

anywhere. Leaves should be mulched, either on property or 

yard waste site no 

one visit/mo, 

wusally branches spring hill dr 

108 yes 

I have around 40 trees and no way to transport leaves and 

branches to yard waste site no never escarpement terrace 

109 no smoke with open windows yes 1-2 days/week fox In 

110 yes we enjoy our fire pit in our back yard no 

several times in 

spring and fall golf course rd 



A B C D E 

111 yes 

we live in a rural area and fall burning of leaves is a 

wonderful tradition. I'm a 40 yr resident no lxper yr edgewater ct 

112 yes because I want to have the freedom to burn brush no 1/yr natures way 

113 yes 

campfire/bonfire is the country feel w/childhood memories 

roasting marshmallows no when possible clifton rd 

114 yes 

burn wood all year long, leaves in fall-limited year waste site 

hours no 7x per yr lower cliff rd 

115 yes no 

lx per wk when 

open meehl st 

116 yes its nice to burn shrubs and weeds no 1xper mo lower cliff rd 

117 yes 

so many trees and leaves in sherwood. To many to bag and 

dispose of. Burning would be easier yes 2-3x yr forest In 

118 yes 

im not bothered but I know others are bothered by rude 

neighbors who stink out their neighbors. yes 2x week cliffwood dr 

119 yes 

it allows people the chance to keep their property clear of 

debris that could be a hazard if not addressed properly 

r  

yes not at all military rd 

120 no health and safety (see attachment 1) yes 20-25+ robinhood way 

121 no 

Because off nuisance/toxic smoke in the neighborhood and 

fire danger-particularly in heavily built subdivision areas. 

Not everyone monitors fires as they should yes-reasonable amount 20x yr Nicklaus ct 

122 No 

danger to other homes and properties. Fire pits should be 

allowed w/o permits, however yes 3x per year Meehl st 

123 no 

unattended fires are dangerous. Smoke pollutes the air and 

many times we have had to close our windows. To us it's the 

same as breathing second hand smoke. Smoke smell is hard 

to get rid of on anything yea — 6-7 times per year spring hill dr 

124 no health concerns for allergies etc. air pollution yes 8-10 x per year carrington ct 

125 no 

health and wellness for surrounding neighbors; safety, 

surrounding properties affected plumes of smoke. The 

health concerns/issue is significant especially due to ingress 

of smoke going into surrounding homes. yes 	_ weekly Bridle Rd 

126 no 

bad for environment, gets in open windows, on hanging 

wash, fire hazard, etc yes monthly Stumpf Ave 

127 

not in a residential area that is fully developed. Other areas 

may be acceptable by permit yes 

1-2 times per 

week in the fall Mustang Dr ino 

128 !no 

pollution-smoke when windy, people abuse the hours and 

what they are allowed to burn yes weekly Nicklaus Ct 



A B C D E 

129 yes 

if in an enclosed receptacle/fire ring-15 ft from building with 
a connected water supply within 20 ft. and fire is attended 
at all times. Must check on fire hazard warnings and wind 
conditions and exclude garbage, recyclables, plastic etc. no lxweek shorewood ct 

130 yes no never lakeshore In 

131 yes fire pits only no 1-2x per year trevino ct  

132 yes 

if controlled and watched, no smoldering for hours (burn 

hot and fast) watch it then dose it out! No burning pallets 
and other garbage, need to be considerate of neighbors no 

ix every 2 weeks-
hours are too 
limiting sundown ct 

133 

if someone wants to burn leaves or branches and is 
supervised while there is a fire or smoke, ok, but only during 
daylight hours. no 2-3 x per month Mustang Dr 

134 yes 
a start and end time along with smoke blowing away from 
homes no 0 escarpment ter 

135 yes 

limited hours of yard waste site.- not convenient. Combined 
Locks uses a vehicle sticker with camera. $5 per sticker 
would pay for camera and allow site to remain open every 
day and not have to pay a person to monitor the site. 
Camera would record vehicles and license plates for 
compliance with hours and sticker, etc. no creekside dr 

136 yes it's more convenient no 6x per year lower cliff rd 

137 yes 
because it is not an issue that the village should be worried 
about. no 2x forest ave 

138 _ yes 
however, if the fire causes damage the initiator of the fire 
must be responsible for costs. no 2-3 x per yr escarpement terrace 

139 yes 

yard waste site open times and all the burnable items they 
don't take no 1x per yr windswept In 

140 yes need to take care of yard waste when it's convenient for me no when possible clifton rd 

141 yes 

burning is a right for all, not just certain groups (campfires 
and house burning) was anyone concerned about pollution 
then! no many times clifton rd 

142 yes due to limited hours of yard waste site no 1-2 tmes palmer ct 
143 yes no 12 times a year sunset lake 

144 yes 

way to many trees in the area so burning is the best option. 
Plus, if I have to take everything to the yard waste site I 

would need to trailer and there are rules against having a 
trailer outside. no almost never timberline dr 



A B C D E 

145 yes reduce cost of yard waste site, etc no lx per month nottingham way 

146 no too much smoke and soot and foul smell no 2x per month queens ct 

147 no 

unattended fire/negligence/could spread and is dangerous. 

Smoke is a huge problem. People are not courteous about 

their smoke going to their neighbors. The yard waste site 

needs to be open a lot more than it is. 

no- extend the days and 

hours of the yard waste 

site a lot natures way 

148 no 

should have a permit so if it gets out of control its easier to 

notify emergency personnel no 5-6 x per year forest ave 

149 no 

we question the judgment of people to make courteous 

decisions. Also, the compost site and obtaining a permit for 

special circumstances exists. no 6-8 x per yr natures way  
150 no no 6-6x per yr natures way 

151 no 

too smelly-can't open windows and doors or hang out 

laundry no every 2 weeks mustang dr 

152 no 

Sherwood has too many residents who will be bothered 

with smoke from a neighbors leaf and yard waste fire. 

Smoke nuisance is further increased and aggravated by the 

frequent burning of damp/wet leaves or green yard debris. 

These conditions frequently occur in fall no never big lake In 

153 yes golf course rd 

154 yes its nice to burn fall and spring brush when possible no when I can military rd 

155 yes its more convenient to burn than to haul it 

a few times per 

year state rd 114 

156 yes more convenient no 2x /yr _ state rd 114 

157 yes 

who complains about outdoor fires? The most noxious 

odors are the obnoxious fumes that come of out the dryers. 

And the dryer stench is weekly. How often do people have 

outdoor fires? If it is a safety issue, put it to a referendum. no 2 x /yr military rd 

158 no 

I think people should mulch or compost their leaves and 

bring brush to the yard waste site. Burning for cookout, 

campfire or native prairie maintenance has a valid purpose. 

Mulching is easy if you have a good system. no 6x /yr travino ct 

159 yes as long as the fire pit is under control no 

a lot in spring and 

fall military rd 

160 yes 

because we are a small village and there is no need for a 

contracted pick up no never meehl st 

161 .,yes for recreational things like bonfires and small brush removal yes lx/week robinhood dr 



' A B C D E 

162 yes does not bother anyone no 3x/mo military rd 

163 yes does not bother anyone no 3x/mo military rd 

164 no we have a yard waste area no weekly cliffview dr 

165 no 

I enjoy a nice campfire with friends and neighbors. I do not 

think burning piles of leaves, grass, etc should be allowed. no nicklaus ct 

166 no 

Want ability to have a fire pit, no opinion on open burning if 

fire pits unaffected. yes 6x in Oct, Nov Palisades Cr 

167 yes no never creekside dr 

168 yes 

I do not see a problem with current practices in the village. 

No changes, no permits no few times a year forest In 

169 yes no forest In 

170 no 

I live in one of the areas where this is a daily occurrence and 

it's horrible to be outside on these days. We have also 

burned leaves in our yard at what we thought was a safe 

distance and have gotten complaints from neighbors a great 

distance away. especially problematic is the smoldering type 

of fires. yes 

1x/yr-we compost 

leaves and have a 

chipper for 

branches which 

we use for mulch bridle rd 

171 no 

open burning pollutes and is a public annoyance. And we 

have a convenient yard waste site no weekly trevino ct 

172 no 

the homes that are built as neighborhoods are not distant 

enough to prevent ash to fly to neighbors air/screens. We 

have suffered this consequence. It is also not food for the 

quality of air. Perhaps only as a very limited allowance? no very often robinhood dr 

173 no _ because when they burn near me, it stinks up my house. 

no-but pick up would be 

great 2x/yr veterans ave 

174 no 

we experience each year days with smoke setting over our 

house for hours no 6x/yr cliff view dr 

175 no 

fire pits are ok, but it is getting too populated for leaf and 

garbage burning no  6-8x/yr cliff view dr 

176 yes 

the area where we live is surrounded by an abundance of 

trees so we deal with our own leaves plus a huge volume 

that blow our way. It would be very difficult to move all the 

leaves to the street where thy would then blow all over the 

court and create more issues. no 

the yard waste 

site is a joke. It 

opens too late in 

spring and closes 

too early in fall. horizon ct 

177 yes I have a fire pit and enjoy an evening by the fire no 8-10 x per year robinhood dr 

178 yes don't live in the big city of Appleton no as often as I can military rd 

179 yes 

it brings families together and gets kids outside and off the 

electronics yes 5x/yr military rd 



A B C D E 

180 yes 

I have no objection to the occasional open burning of leaves 

and brush. In fact, I find the aroma generated by this activity 

to be rather pleasant. Of course, I do have to note that my 

neighbors have been very considerate and I have not 

experienced any heavy smoke as a result of their burning 

Possibly, depending on 

price weekly golf course rd 

181 yes yes forest ave  

182 yes 

convenient, don't need a trailer to haul it. What we don't 

burn, we mulch. no waterview dr 

183 yes no waterview dr 

184 yes 

need to keep in mind wind and direction of smoke. Trees 

are great, but if you plant it, take care of it and it's leaves. If 

 you can't, then don't plant a tree no 

not much-hours 

open don't fit my 

schedule military rd 

185 yes 

ordinance should address safety-restrict hours, etc. Impose 

a fine if fire gets out of control. Try that first and then revisit 

it. 

no-Village could supply an 

"as needed" service and 

charge those who use it a 

fee 1x/mo military rd 



Village of Sherwood, WI 
Monday, October 8, 2018 

Chapter 7. Public Nuisance 

Article II. Nuisances 

§ 7-8. Public nuisances prohibited. 

No person shall erect, contrive, cause, continue, maintain or permit to exist any public nuisance 
within the Village of Sherwood. 

§ 7-9. Public nuisance defined. 

A public nuisance is a thing, act, occupation, condition or use of property which shall continue for 
such length of time as to: 

A. Substantially annoy, injure or endanger the comfort, health, repose or safety of the public. 

B. In any way render the public insecure in life or in the use of property. 

C. Greatly offend the public morals or decency. 

D. Unlawfully and substantially interfere with, obstruct or tend to obstruct or render dangerous for 
passage any street, alley, highway, navigable body of water or other public way or the use of 
public property. 

P35 



Village of Sherwood, WI 
Monday, October 8, 2018 

Chapter 7. Public Nuisance 

Article II. Nuisances 

§ 7-10. Public nuisances affecting health. 

The following acts, omissions, places, conditions and things are hereby specifically declared to be 
public health nuisances, but such enumeration shall not be construed to exclude other health 
nuisances regulated or prohibited by Village ordinances or state statutes: 

A. Adulterated food. All decayed, harmfully adulterated or unwholesome food or drink sold or 
offered for sale to the public. 

B. Unburied carcasses. Carcasses of animals, birds or fowl not intended for human consumption 
or foods which are not buried or otherwise disposed of in a sanitary manner within 24 hours 
after death. 

C. Breeding places for vermin, etc. Accumulations of decayed animal or vegetable matter, trash, 
rubbish, rotting lumber, bedding, packing material, scrap metal or any material whatsoever in 
which flies, mosquitoes, disease-carrying insects, rats or other vermin may breed. 

D. Stagnant water. All stagnant water in which mosquitoes, flies or other insects can multiply. 

E. Garbage cans. Garbage cans or other containers which are not flytight. 

F. Noxious weeds, rank growth, and native and naturalized plants; regulation of all noxious weeds 
and other rank growth of vegetation. 
[Amended 3-10-2014] 

(1) Definitions. As used in this subsection, the following terms shall have the meanings 
indicated: 

NATIVE AND NATURALIZED PLANTS 
Ferns, wildflowers and native grasses, not including turf grasses, that may be grown 
in a managed landscape, shall have a six-foot setback from all property lines and 
structures and be cut to a maximum height of nine inches once annually by July 15. 

Anyone maintaining a natural landscape must register with the Village Administrator-ill 

NOXIOUS WEEDS 
Defined as in §§ 23.235 and 66.0407, Wis. Stats., to include Canada thistle, leafy 
spurge, field bindweed (creeping jenny), any nonnative member of the genus lythrum 
(purple loosestrife) or hybrids thereof, and multiflora rose. 

RANK GROWTH 

P36 



Lawns, grasses, and other vegetative growth on undeveloped lots or platted parcels 
of land which exceed eight inches in length, except for the portion of property located 
in a designated floodplain, wetland, or stormwater detention area. 

[1] 	Editor's Note: Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 25, Construction and Effect 
of Ordinances, Art. II). 

(2) Regulation. 

(a) Notification (one-time). In accordance with § 66.0407, Wis. Stats., the Village Clerk-
Treasurer shall annually, on or before May 15, publish a Class 2 notice and post at the 
official posting location(s) of the Village the requirement of every person by law to 
destroy all noxious weeds and to cut all other grass or vegetation under his control on 
developed and undeveloped platted parcels the person owns, occupies, or exercises 
control over. 

(b) Mailing (nonresident owners). On or before May 15, the Village Clerk-Treasurer shall 
send one notice of a property owner's obligations under this subsection by first-class 
mail to all nonresident parcel owners. 

(C) Publications. To the extent possible, in a timely fashion, the Village newsletter, web 
page, etc., shall provide a reminder of property owners' obligations under this 
subsection related to weeds, rank growth, native and naturalized plants regulation and 
the change to a once-annual notification. 

(d) Notification limited. The above-stated notifications constitute the entire obligation of 
the Village Clerk-Treasurer to notify property owners. No additional notification need 
nor shall be provided during the growing season. 

G. Water pollution. The pollution of any public well or cistern, stream, lake, canal or other body of 
water by sewage, creamery or industrial wastes or other substances. 

H. Noxious odors, etc. Any use of property, substances or things within the Village or within four 
miles thereof causing any foul, offensive, noisome, nauseous, noxious or disagreeable odors, 
gases, effluvia, or stenches extremely repulsive to the physical senses of ordinary persons 
which annoy, discomfort, injure or inconvenience the health of any appreciable number of 
persons within the Village. The above provisions are not intended to prevent normal farming 
operations within the prescribed areas. 

I. Street pollution. Any use of property which shall cause any nauseous or unwholesome liquid or 
substance to flow into or upon any street, gutter, alley, sidewalk or public place within the 
Village. 

J. Animals at large. All animals running at large. 

K. Accumulations of refuse. Accumulations of old cans, lumber, elm firewood and other refuse. 

L. Air pollution. The escape of smoke, soot, cinders, noxious acids, fumes, gases, fly ash or 
industrial dust within the Village limits or within one mile therefrom in such quantities as to 
endanger the health of persons of ordinary sensibilities or to threaten or cause substantial 

injury to property.M 
[2] 	Editor's Note: Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 25, Construction and Effect of 

Ordinances, Art. II). 

P37 



Village of Sherwood, WI 
Monday, October 8, 2018 

Chapter 11. Refuse and Recycling 

Article 1. Recycling 

§ 11-12. Management of lead acid batteries, major appliances, 
waste oil and yard waste. 

A. Occupants of single-family and two- to four-unit residences, multiple-family dwellings and 
nonresidential facilities and properties shall manage lead acid batteries, major appliances and 
waste oil according to current Village-contracted waste and recycling disposal service and any 
other applicable regulations. 

B. Yard waste shall be brought to the Village yard waste site during regular operating hours. 

[1] 	Editor's Note: Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 25, Construction and Effect of 
Ordinances, Art. iv. 

Article II. Disposal of Solid Waste 

§ 11-20. Collection of solid waste. 

A. The Village of Sherwood has established a policy as may be amended from time to time. Said 
policy shall be made available by contacting the Public Works Department or Village Clerk-
Treasurer or visiting the Village's website. 

B. If solid waste is not prepared according to the provisions of this article and as outlined in the 
policy, the hauler shall place a violation tag on these carts, and collection will occur on the 
resident's next scheduled collection day once the condition is remedied and in compliance with 
this article and the policy. 

(1) Commercial/industrial waste and construction/demolition waste. This waste shall be 
collected by private contract of the owner in such manner and frequency as needed to 
protect the public safety and welfare of the Village of Sherwood, but not less than weekly. 

(2) Domestic waste. Domestic waste (garbage) shall be collected by the current Village-
contracted waste and recycling disposal company from all residences on a weekly basis, 
provided that such waste is properly handled, prepared, contained, stored and located in 
conformance with this article and the policy. 

(3) Special pickup items. White goods with and without refrigerants, furniture, automobile tires 
and other items shall be collected curbside only after special arrangements have been 
made by the resident with the Village refuse hauling contractor. Separate charges will 

P38 



apply. 

(4) Lead acid batteries. There shall be no collection and/or disposal of lead acid batteries by 
the Village of Sherwood. 

(5) Recyclable waste. Recyclable waste shall be collected on a biweekly basis on the same 
day that domestic waste is collected. Acceptable recyclable waste is listed in the policy. 

(6) Yard waste. 

(a) Yard waste disposal shall be from all nonexempt residential units in the Village of 
Sherwood and deposited at the Village yard waste site at the corner of County M and 
Kesler Road. 

(b) The site is open on Saturdays only in April and November. Starting May 1, the site is 
open three days a week: Tuesdays and Thursdays from 2:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. and 
Saturdays from 8:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. 

(c) This site is a collection point for grass clippings, leaves, branches, and small amounts 
of sod. No branches greater than four inches in diameter by four feet in length are 
accepted. No plastic of any kind, including garbage bags, is accepted. 

(d) Any exempt unit or business which produces yard waste shall be responsible for the 
proper disposal of the yard waste in conformity with this article. 

(e) Disposal or dumping of yard waste on any public premises or road right-of-way or 
upon any private lands not in compliance with this article or the policy is hereby 
prohibited and subject to the penalties of this article. 

P39 



Village of Sherwood, WI 
Monday October 8, 2018 

Chapter 22. Zoning 

Article X. Performance Standards 

§ 22-75. Odors. 

No activity shall emit any odorous matter of such nature or quantity as to be offensive, obnoxious or 
unhealthful outside its premises. The guide for determining odor measurement and control shall be 
Ch. NR 429, Wis. Adm. Code, and amendments thereto. 

P40 



Village of Sherwood, WI 
Monday, October 8, 2018 

Chapter 40. Fees and Penalties 

Article II. Penalties 

§ 40-19. Public nuisance (Chapter 7). 

Penalties under Chapter 7 of this Code shall be as follows: 

A. Article I, Junked Vehicles and Appliances: 

Code Section 	Penalty 

A forfeiture of not less than $50 nor more than $200, plus costs of 
prosecution, and, in default of the payment thereof, imprisonment in the 
county jail until said forfeiture and costs are paid, but not to exceed 60 
days 

B. Article II, Nuisances: 

Code Section Penalty 

For violations of § 7-10, Public nuisances affecting health, a fine of $50 

For violations of § 7-11, Public nuisances offending morals and decency, a 
fine of $50 

For violations of § 7-12, Public nuisances affecting peace and safety, a fine 
of $100 

For violations of § 7-14, Loud and unnecessary noise, a fine of $50 for a 
first offense and a fine of $100 for a second offense 

For all other violations, $150 

C. Article Ill, Snow and Ice: 

Code Section Penalty 

§ 7-20A(2) 	A forfeiture of not less than $50 nor more than $250 

§ 7-23 	$100 

D. Article IV, Property Maintenance Standards. All violations of this article shall be subject to a 
forfeiture of not less than $250 and not more than $1,000 per offense, together with applicable 
surcharges and penalty assessment and taxable costs of prosecution, and the court may also 
grant injunctive relief. Failure to comply with an order of abatement issued under this article 
shall constitute a violation of this article, and each day of continued violation shall constitute a 
separate offense. Failure to pay any penalties imposed by the court in accordance with this 

§ 7-7 

§ 7-18 

P41 



article may result in imprisonment in the county jail. 
[Added 5-9-2016] 

§ 40-20. Refuse and recycling (Chapter 11). 

Penalties under Chapter 11 of this Code shall be as follows: 

A. Article I, Recycling: 

Code Section Penalty 

For violations of § 11-16, Scavenging, a forfeiture of $50 for a first violation; 
a forfeiture of $200 for a second violation; and a forfeiture of not more than 

	

§ 11-17C 
	

$2,000 for a third or subsequent violation 

For all other violations of Chapter 11, Article I (excluding § 11-16), a 
forfeiture of not less than $10 nor more than $1,000 for each violation 

B. Article II, Disposal of Solid Waste: 

Code Section Penalty 

For violations of § 11-20, Collection of solid waste, a forfeiture of $25 for a 
first violation, plus costs of prosecution; a forfeiture of $50 for a second 
violation, plus costs of prosecution; and a forfeiture of $100 for a third or 
subsequent violation, plus costs of prosecution; and, in default of the 
payment thereof, imprisonment in the county jail until said forfeiture and 

	

§ 11-26B 	costs are paid, but not to exceed 90 days 

For all other violations of Chapter 11, Article II (excluding § 11-20), a 
forfeiture of $50 for each violation, plus costs of prosecution, and, in default 
of the payment thereof, imprisonment in the county jail until said forfeiture 
and costs are paid, but not to exceed 90 days 

§ 40-28. Zoning (Chapter 22). 

Penalties under Chapter 22 of this Code shall be as follows: 

	

Code Section 	Penalty 

A forfeiture of not less than $10 nor more than $500 and the costs of 
prosecution for each violation, including court costs and reasonable 

	

§ 22-108D(1) 	attorney fees, and, in default of payment of such forfeiture and costs, 
imprisonment in the county jail until payment thereof, but not exceeding 30 
days 

A cash deposit of $100 for a first offense; $250 for a second offense of a 
§ 22-108D(2) 	similar nature within a twelve-month period; and $500 for a third offense of 

a similar nature within a twelve-month period 

P42 



Menu » Administrative Rules Related » Administrative Code a Department of Natural Resources (NR) 

» Chs. NR 400-499; Environmental Protection—Air Pollution Control » Chapter NR 429 

Register, October, 1999, No. 526 

Chapter NR 429 

MALODOROUS EMISSIONS AND OPEN BURNING 

	

NR 429.01 	Applicability; purpose. 

	

NR 429.02 	Definitions. 

	

NR 429.03 	Malodorous emissions. 

	

NR 429.04 	Open burning. 

Note: Corrections made under s. 13.93 (2m) (b) 7., Stats., Register, December, 1996, No. 492. 

NR 429.01 Applicability; purpose. 
(1) APPLICABILITY. This chapter applies to all air contaminant sources and to their owners and operators. 

(2) PURPOSE. This chapter is adopted under ss. 285.11, 285.13 and 285.17, Stats., to establish emission 
limitations, odor tests and abatement or control requirements for malodorous air contaminant sources 
and to limit the conditions under which open burning is permitted in order to protect air quality. 

History: Cr. Register, September, 1986, No. 369, eff. 10-1-86; am. (1), Register, May, 1992, No. 437, eff. 6-1-92. 

NR 429.02 Definitions. The definitions contained in ch. NR 400 apply to the terms used in this chapter. In 
addition, the following definitions apply to the terms used in this chapter: 

(1) "Open burning" means oxidation from which the products of combustion are emitted directly into the 
ambient air without passing through a stack or chimney. Open burning does not include the 
combustion occurring at a properly operated air curtain destructor. 

History: Cr. Register, September, 1986, No. 369, eff. 10-1-86; renum. (2) to be NR 400.02 (98m) and am., Register, 
May, 1992, No. 437, eff. 6-1-92; am. (intro.), (1), Register, December, 1995, No. 480, eff. 1-1-96. 

NR 429.03 Malodorous emissions. 
(1) GENERAL LIMITATIONS. No person may cause, allow or permit emission into the ambient air of any 

substance or combination of substances in such quantities that an objectionable odor is determined to 
result unless preventive measures satisfactory to the department are taken to abate or control such 
emission. 

(2) OBJECTIONABLE ODOR TESTS. An odor shall be deemed objectionable when either or both of the 
following tests are met: 

(a) Upon decision resulting from investigation by the department, based upon the nature, intensity, 
frequency and duration of the odor as well as the type of area involved and other pertinent factors. 

(b) Or when 60% of a random sample of persons exposed to the odor in their place of residence or 
employment, other than employment at the odor source, claim it to be objectionable and the nature, 
intensity, frequency and duration of the odor are considered. 

(3) ABATEMENT OR CONTROL REQUIREMENTS. Abatement or control requirements may include but are not 
limited to: 

(a) Use of catalytic incinerators, after burners, scrubbers, adsorbers, absorbers or other methods approved 
by the department. 

(b) The removal and disposal of odorous materials. 

(c) The use of methods in handling and storage of odorous materials that minimize emissions. 

(d) The following of prescribed standards in the maintenance of premises to reduce odorous emissions. 

(e) Use of best available control technology to reduce odorous emissions. 	
P43 



History: Renum. from NR 154.18 (1), Register, September, 1986, No. 369, eff. 10-1-86; am. (1), Register, May, 1992, 
No. 437, eff. 6-1-92. 

NR 429.04 Open burning. 
(1) PROHIBITION AND EXCEPTIONS. Open burning is prohibited with the following exceptions: 

(a) Burning of brush or weeds on agricultural lands. 

(b) Fires set for practice and instruction of fire fighters, or testing of fire fighting equipment. 

(c) Backfires to control forest fires or fires set for forest or wildlife habitat management with approval of 
the department where no reasonable alternative is available. 

(d) Burning of explosive or dangerous material for which there is no other safe means of disposal. 

(e) Burning of small amounts of dry combustible rubbish (not to include wet combustible rubbish, 
garbage, oily substances, asphalt, plastic or rubber products) except where prohibited by local 
ordinance. 

(f) Burning at rural or isolated solid waste disposal sites outside of the Southeastern Wisconsin Intrastate 
AQCR which have been approved under s. NR 506.04, or burning of special waste where permits 
are obtained from the department. 

NR 429.04(1)(g) 	(g) Outdoor fires for cooking, ceremonies or recreation. 

(h) Burning of trees, limbs, stumps, brush or weeds for clearing or maintenance of rights-of-ways outside 
of the Southeastern Wisconsin Intrastate AQCR. 

(i) Burning of trees, wood, brush or demolition materials, excluding asphaltic or rubber material, using 
methods approved by the department. 

(j) Small open flames for welding, acetylene torches, safety flares, heating tar or similar applications. 

(k) Burning of gaseous or liquid waste in a manner approved by the department. 

(L) Burning of small amounts of dry leaves and dry plant clippings except where prohibited by local 
ordinance. 

(2) OPEN BURNING PROCEDURES. All allowed open burning shall be conducted in a safe pollution free 
manner, when wind and weather conditions are such as to minimize adverse effects and in 
conformance with local and state fire protection regulations. 

History: Renum. from NR 154.10, Register, September, 1986, No. 369, eff. 10-1-86; corrections in (1) (f) and (h) made 
under s. 13.93 (2m) (b) 6. and 7, Stats., Register, July, 1988, No. 391; am. (1) (b), (f) and (i), Register, May, 1992, 
No. 437, eff. 6-1-92; am. (1) (1), Register, October, 1999, No. 526, eff. 11-1-99. 

Menu » Administrative Rules Related » Administrative Code » Department of Natural Resources (NR) 

» Chs. NR 400-499; Environmental Protection —Air Pollution Control » Chapter NR 429 

Published under s. 35.93, Stets. Updated on the first day of each month. Entire code is always current. The Register date on each page is the date the chapter was last 

published. 

/F.44 



MODEL ORDINANCE 
FOR 

OUTDOOR BURNING, OPEN BURNING AND BURNING OF REFUSE 

A GUIDE FOR WISCONSIN COUNTIES, CITIES, VILLAGES AND TOWNS 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 
Box 7921 

Madison, WI 53707 
PUB-AM-356-2004 
September, 2004 

The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources provides equal opportunity in its employment, programs, services and 
functions under an Affirmative Action Plan. If you have any questions, please write to Equal Opportunity Office, 
Department of Interior, Washington, D.C. 20240. 

This publication is available in alternative format (large print, Braille, audiotape, etc.) upon request. 
Please call (608) 266-2111 for more information. 

PRINTED 
- 	ON RECYCLED 

PAPER 

P45 



WISCONSIN MODEL/SAMPLE ORDINANCE FOR 
OUTDOOR BURNING, OPEN BURNING AND BURNING OF REFUSE 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Part I Introduction 	 p. 2 

Part II Model Ordinance 	 p. 3 
Section 1 	Purpose 	 P. 3  
Section 2 	Applicability 	 P. 3  
Section 3 	Severability 	 P. 3  
Section 4 	Definitions 	 P. 3  
Section 5 	General prohibition on outdoor burning and refuse burning 	p. 4 
Section 6 	Materials that may not be burned 	 p. 4 
Section 7 	Burning leaves, brush, clean wood and other vegetative debris 	p. 4 
Section 8 	Burn barrels 	 p. 6 
Section 9 	Outdoor wood-fired furnaces 	 P. 7  
Section 10 	Fire department practice burns 	 P. 7  
Section 11 	Exemption for burning certain papers 	 p. 8 
Section 12 	Burning Permits 	 p. 8 
Section 13 	Liability 	 p. 9 
Section 14 	Right of entry and inspection 	 p. 9 
Section 15 	Enforcement and penalties 	 p. 9 

Part III Example Ordinance 	 p. 11 
(This "Example Ordinance" for a fictitious town in Wisconsin has been included to 
show municipalities what an end product might look like after selecting from all the 
various alternatives in the Part II Model Ordinance. This example is not intended 
to be used directly as a model. Municipalities are urged to consider all the alternatives 
in the Part II Model Ordinance and to select the alternatives that best meet their needs.) 

Part IV Reference Materials 
Burn Barrels: Unhealthy, Unnecessary, Unneighborly and Usually Illegal 

	
p. 16 

Wisconsin Statewide Law on Open Burning: Which Materials Are Legal To Burn? 
	

p. 17 

P46 



Part I. 	Introduction 

This document contains a model ordinance and related material prepared to assist Wisconsin counties, cities, villages 
and towns in adopting local regulations related to outdoor burning and burning of refuse. The model is intended to 
assist these units of government in enacting their own ordinances and is meant to be advisory only. This publication 
was prepared in cooperation with the Wisconsin Towns Association, the Wisconsin Counties Association, the League of 
Wisconsin Municipalities, and the American Lung Association of Wisconsin. 

Most communities in Wisconsin regulate outdoor burning and/or refuse burning in some fashion for the purpose of 
preventing wildfires, preventing air pollution problems or both. Municipalities are not required by state law to enact 
any particular provision of this model ordinance. The various provisions of this model ordinance are suggestions and 
examples. It is intended that a municipality "pick and choose" from among the various suggested provisions to meet its 
particular local needs. The only constraint is that a municipality may not enact an ordinance that's less stringent than 
state law. For example, state law prohibits the open burning of certain materials like plastic, rubber, treated or painted 
wood and asphalt products. A local municipal ordinance may not provide an exemption from the statewide ban on 
open burning of these materials. Further explanation is provided in the explanatory notes that accompany specific 
sections of the model ordinance. 

The Model Ordinance (Part II of this publication) contains numerous alternatives for municipalities to consider and 
detailed explanations of the various provisions and alternatives. As a result, at first glance the Model Ordinance may 
appear to be overly lengthy and complex. However, as explained in the paragraph above, it's designed for municipalities 
to "pick and choose" from among the various suggested provisions to craft an ordinance that most meets their needs. 
An "Example Ordinance" (Part III of this publication) has been included to show municipalities what a shorter end 
product might look like. 

Format of this Document: All J underlined, bracketed bold1  sections require filling in a name, address, 
governmental body, distance or other information. Shaded and italic text shows comments or explanations. In 
explanations of this model/sample ordinance, the term "municipality" is meant to include counties, towns, cities and 
villages. 

• Availability of Electronic Copies: This model / sample ordinance is available in electronic form on the 
Open Burning webpage of the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources at: 
http://www.dnr.state.wi.us/org/caer/ce/ob/.  The Ordinance is available as a PDF or as a Microsoft Word 
document. 

2 

P47 



Part II. 	 Model Ordinance 

Outdoor and Refuse Burning Ordinance for the [Pick one: county, city, village or town]  of 
Enamel,  Wisconsin. 

Ordinance No. 

(Note to Those Draftime Ordinances: This model / sample ordinance was drafted to cover "open burning". "outdoor 
burning" (including open burning and burning in outdoor wood-fired furnaces' and "refuse burning" (including both 
open burning of refuse and indoor burning of refuse. If your municipality decides to adopt an ordinance that does not 
address all of these topics. then the title of the ordinance should be changed as appropriate. For example, ifyour 
ordinance doesn't apply to outdoor wood-fired furnaces then the title of the ordinance might be "Open burning and 
Refuse Burning") 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 
1.00 Purpose. This ordinance is intended to promote the public health, safety and welfare and to safeguard 
the health, comfort, living conditions, safety and welfare of the citizens of the (Pick one: county, city, village 
or town].  of  [name]  due to the air pollution and fire hazards of open burning, outdoor burning and refuse 
burning. 

SECTION 2: APPLICABILITY 
2.00 Applicability. This ordinance applies to all outdoor burning and refuse burning within the IPick one:  
county, city, village or town!,  of  'name'.  fFor county ordinances, insert the following: This county 
ordinance does not apply to incorporated municipalities. If a provision in a town ordinance in this county 
covers a provision contained in this county ordinance, the town ordinance controls. 

2.1. This ordinance does not apply to grilling or cooking using charcoal, wood, propane or natural gas in 
cooking or grilling appliances. 
2.2. This ordinance does not apply to burning in a stove, furnace, fireplace or other heating device 
within a building used for human or animal habitation unless the material being burned includes refuse as 
defined in Section 4 of this ordinance. 
2.3. This ordinance does not apply to the use of propane, acetylene, natural gas, gasoline or kerosene in 
a device intended for heating, construction or maintenance activities. 

SECTION 3: SEVERABILITY 
3.00 Severability. Should any portion of this ordinance be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected. 

SECTION 4: DEFINITIONS 
4.00 Definitions. 

4.1. "Campfire" means a small outdoor fire intended for recreation or cooking not including a fire 
intended for disposal of waste wood or refuse. 
4.2. "Clean Wood" means natural wood which has not been painted, varnished or coated with a similar 
material, has not been pressure treated with preservatives and does not contain resins or glues as in 
plywood or other composite wood products. 
4.3. "Confidential papers" means printed material containing personal identification or financial 
information that the owner wishes to destroy. 
4.4. "Fire Chief' means the Chief of the Jinsert name of Fire Departments  or other person authorized 
by the Fire Chief. (Note to Those DraftinM Ordinances: The term "Fire Chief' is used throughout this 

3 

P48 



model ordinance, Municipalities may, at their discretion, designate persons other than those associated 
with the Fire Department for many of die responsibilities in this ordinance. Also, ilea municipality is 
wryed by more than onefire department, this definition shou41 be adjusted to include both, 
4.5. "Outdoor Burning" means open burning or burning in an outdoor wood-fired furnace. 
4.6. "Open Burning" means kindling or maintaining a fire where the products of combustion are emitted 
directly into the ambient air without passing through a stack or a chimney. 
4.7. "Outdoor Wood-fired Furnace" means a wood-fired furnace, stove or boiler that is not located 
within a building intended for habitation by humans or domestic animals. 
4.8. "Refuse" means any waste material except clean wood. 

SECTION 5: GENERAL PROHIBITION ON OPEN BURNING, OUTDOOR BURNING AND REFUSE 
BURNING 

5.00 General prohibition on outdoor burning and refuse burning. Open burning, outdoor burning and 
refuse burning are prohibited in the Wick one: county, city, village or townl  of  Enamel unless the burning is 
specifically permitted by this ordinance. 

SECTION 6: MATERIALS THAT MAY NOT BE BURNED 
(Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  State administrative rules prohibit indoor or outdoor burning of the materials 
'listed in subsections 6.10 - 6.17 with certain limited exceptions that require air pollution controls and a written 
approval from the Department of Natural Resources. A municipality does not have the discretion to allow burning of 
materials prohibited by state law 

6.00 Materials that may not be burned. 
6.10 Unless a specific written approval has been obtained from the Department of Natural Resources, 
the following materials may not be burned in an open fire, incinerator, burn barrel, furnace, stove or 
any other indoor or outdoor incineration or heating device. 'Note to Those Drallin2 Ordinances:  If 
your ordinance requires a permit, you may wish to use the next sentence.) The I,l'ick one: county., 
city, village or town)  of Enamel will not issue a permit for burning any of the following materials 
without air pollution control devices and a written copy of an approval by the Department of Natural 
Resources. 
6.11. Rubbish or garbage including but not limited to food wastes, food wraps, packaging, animal 
carcasses, paint or painted materials, furniture, composite shingles, construction or demolition debris 
or other household or business wastes. 
6.12. Waste oil or other oily wastes except used oil burned in a heating device for energy recovery 
subject to the restrictions in Chapter NR 590, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
6.13. Asphalt and products containing asphalt. 
6.14. Treated or painted wood including but not limited to plywood, composite wood products or 
other wood products that are painted, varnished or treated with preservatives. 
6.15. Any plastic material including but not limited to nylon, PVC, ABS, polystyrene or urethane 
foam, and synthetic fabrics, plastic films and plastic containers. 
6.16. Rubber including tires and synthetic rubber-like products. 
6.17. Newspaper, corrugated cardboard, container board, office paper and other materials that must 
be recycled in accordance with the recycling ordinance except as provided in Section 11 of this 
ordinance. 

SECTION 7: OPEN BURNING OF LEAVES, BRUSH, CLEAN WOOD AND OTHER VEGETATIVE 
DEBRIS (Omit this section entirely if your municipality chooses not to regulate this activity) 

(Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  Your municipality will need to decide whether to entirely prohibit burning of 
these materials, whether to restrict but not entirely prohibit burning of these materials, or whether to not regulate this 
activity. Based upon that decision, the appropriate provisions from among those suggested in this model may be 
chosen. If Alternative 2 (below) is chosen, subsections 7.1 and 7.2 should always be included. Subsections 7.3- 7.8 are 
regulatory exemptions provided in state rules. A municipality may choose to be more stringent than state rules by not 
including one or more of those exemptions. however, a municipality may not adopt a broader exemption that would be 

4 

P49 



(less stringent than state rules. The provisions in subsection 7.9 - 7.15 are not covered by, state air pollution or waste 
management rules, but are suggestions that a municipality should seriously consider as issues of concern for local 
regulation in the ordinance.) 

7.00 Burning leaves, brush, clean wood and other vegetative debris. 

rAlternative 1) Open burning of leaves, weeds, brush, stumps, clean wood, trees and other vegetative debris is 
prohibited for name the particular type of material from the above list that may not be burned such, as loaves). 

or 
Alternative 2) Open burning of leaves, weeds, brush, stumps, clean wood other vegetative debris is allowed 

only in accordance with the following provisions rbo not include in the above list any material prohibited 
under alternative 1.) 

7.1. All allowed open burning shall be conducted in a safe nuisance free manner, when wind and 
weather conditions are such as to minimize adverse effects and not create a health hazard or a 
visibility hazard on roadways, railroads or airfields. Open burning shall be conducted in conformance 
with all local and state fire protection regulations. 
(Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  Under state law in an unincorporated "intensive  forestfire 
protection area" a burning permit must be obtained from the Department ofNatural Resources or an 
emergency fire warden for open burning anytime the ground is not snow covered. In an 
unincorporated "extensive  forest fire protection area" a permit is required from the Department of 
Natural Resources anytime the ground is not snow coverea during the months of January through 
May. In all incorporated municipalities and in towns that are not in "intensive" or "extensive" forest 

.tire protection areas. the municipality has the discretion to determine whether or not burning permits 
are required. For further information see sections 26.11 — 26.13. Wis. Stan. and Chap. NR 30, Wis. 
Adm. Code 
7.2. Except for barbecue, gas and charcoal grills, no open burning shall be undertaken during periods 
when either the Fire Chief or the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources has issued a burning 
ban applicable to the area. 
(Note to Those Drafting Ordinances: Choose from the following additional provisions that you wish 
to he applicable) 
73. Open burning shall be conducted only on the property on which the materials were generated or 
at a facility approved by and in accordance with provisions established by the Department of Natural 
Resources and the Fire Chief. 
7.4. Unless explicitly allowed elsewhere in this ordinance, a commercial enterprise other than an 
agricultural or silvicultural operation may open burn only at a facility approved by and in accordance 
with provisions established by the Department of Natural Resources and the Fire Chief. 
7.5. Open burning of weeds or brush on agricultural lands is allowed if conducted in accordance with 
other applicable provisions of this ordinance. 
7.6. Fires set for forest, prairie or wildlife habitat management are allowed with the approval of the 
Department of Natural Resources. 
7.7. Outdoor campfires and small bonfires for cooking, ceremonies or recreation are allowed 
provided that the fire is confined by a control device or structure such as a barrel, fire ring, or fire pit. 
Bonfires are allowed only if approved by and in accordance with provisions established by the Fire 
Chief. 
7.8. Burning of trees, limbs, stumps, brush or weeds for clearing or maintenance of rights-of-way is 
allowed if approved by the Fire Chief and if in accordance with other provisions of this ordinance. 
(Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  State air pollution regulations prohibit this type of burning in 
certain counties in southeast Wisconsin. If your municipality is in that area, state regulations 
preclude this provision. Check with DNR Air Management stafffor further information.) 
7.9. In emergency situations such as natural disasters burning that would otherwise be prohibited is 
allowed if specifically approved by the Department of Natural Resources. 
7.10. Open burning under [this section] or [subsections 	, and 	(Note to Those Draftin4 
Ordinances:  If your municipality requires a burning permit, you may want to require a permit for any 
open burning covered by Section 7 or you might want to require a permit for only certain types of 
fires. In that case, you would name the appropriate subsections qf Section 7. Also see the note 
following Section 7.1 regarding fire permits) shall be conducted only following issuance of and in 
accordance with a permit issued under Section 11 of this ordinance. 

5 

P50 



7.11 Open burning under this section shall only be conducted at a location at least 'insert a distance 
appropriate for the municipality.]  [such as 100 feet. 250 feet or another greater or lesser distance) 
from the nearest building which is not on the same property. (Note: municipalities may also want to 
consider whether different distances shonld he required for Nfferent types ofapen burning under this 
.section - e.g. campfires, i'S. ./ 

7.12. Except for campfires and permitted bonfires, open burning shall only be conducted Jinsert 
times of year and/or times of day appropriate for the municipality].  1(Some municipalities with 
volunteer fire departments may want to require burning during times of the dav when firefighters are 
more likely to be available. Other municipalities tnay limit burning to only daylight hours. The 
municipality may also limit the times of vear when open burning is acceptable - - such as months with 
low fire hazard or times when snow cover is present.) 
7.13. Open burning shall be constantly attended and supervised by a competent person of at least 
eighteen (18) years of age l'or use another appropriate age) until the fire is extinguished and is cold. 
The person shall have readily available for use such fire extinguishing equipment as may be necessary 
for the total control of the fire. 
7.14. No materials may be burned upon any street, curb, gutter or sidewalk or on the ice of a lake, 
pond, stream or waterbody. 
7.15. Except for barbecue, gas and charcoal grills, no burning shall be undertaken within [insert 
distance] (25 feet or other appropriate distance) from any combustible material, combustible wall or 
partition, exterior window opening, exit access or exit unless authorized by the Fire Chief. 
7.16. No open burning may be conducted on days when the Department of Natural Resources has 
declared an Air Quality Watch or Air Quality Advisory for ozone or fine particle pollution applicable 
to the [Pick one: county, city, village or town]  of  [name]. 
'Note to Those Drafting Ordinances: Those municipalities in areas subject to ozone advisories 
should consider this subsection.) 

SECTION 8: BURN BARRELS {Omit this section entirely if your municipality chooses not to regulate this activity) 

8.00 Burn barrels. 
(Note to Those Draftin2 Ordinances: Burn barrels are often used to incinerate illegal materials (see Section 6 
of this ordinance) and are frequently a source of citizen complaints when neighbors are exposed to the smoke 
The smoke can cause both acute and chronic health problems. The Department of Natural Resources believes 
that there are better alternatives for unwanted woody and vegetative debris and, therefore, discourages the use 
of burn barrels. Conversely, burn barrels can be a valuable fire prevention device if used in isolated rural 
areas and only for small amounts of woody and vegetative debris. Therefore, statewide administrative rules do 
not prohibit the use of burn barrels. Whether or not to allow use of burn barrels is considered a local issue. 
Your municipality will need to decide whether to entirely prohibit burn barrels, whether to allow burn barrels 
under specified conditions, or whether not to regulate burn barrels. Based upon that decision, the appropriate 
provisions from among those suggested in this model may be chosen. Education about burn barrels is an 
Important component of a program to reduce their use. A short fact sheet entitled "Burn Barrels —
Unnecessary, Unneighborly and Usually Illegal" is included in the reference material in Part IV of this model 
ordinance. Your municipality should consider how to disseminate information concerning open burning.) 

i(illternative 11 No person shall use or maintain a burn barrel in the 'Pick one: count %. cis ‘ . village or town] 
of 'name].  
or 
(Alternative 2) A burn barrel may be used in the [Pick one: county, city, village or town]  of  Enamel  only in 
accordance with the following provisions: 

8.1. The burn barrel shall not be used to burn any of the prohibited materials listed in Section 6 of this 
ordinance and may only be used in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 (or subsections of 
Section 7 deemed appropriate) of this ordinance. 
8.2. The burn barrel shall be located at least (insert a distance appropriate for the municipality.]  
from the nearest building that is not on the same property as the burn barrel. (Choose a distance such  
as 250 feet or another greater or lesser distance as deemed appropriate for the municipality.) 
8.3. The burn barrel shall have vent holes above the ash line for combustion air and shall be covered 
with a heavy wire screen. 

6 

P51 



8.4. The burn barrel shall not serve a commercial enterprise. 
8.5. The owner of the burn barrel shall obtain an annual permit from the Fire Chief in accordance 
with Section 12 of this ordinance. 

SECTION 9: OUTDOOR WOOD-FIRED FURNACES tOmit this section entirely if your municipality chooses not 
!to regulate this activityi 

9.00 Outdoor wood-fired furnaces. 
VNote to Those Draltin_e Ordinances:  State administrative rules do not regulate the installation or use of 
outdoor residential wood-fired furnaces. stoves or boilers. all of which are defined as "outdoor wood-fired 
furnaces" in this model ordinance. Outdoor wood-tired furnaces can save finsil_fuels. but can also be a cause 
of citizen complaints. Outdoor wood:  fired furnaces are designed to maintain fire over long periods of time, 
they are designed to operate at low temperatures when not heating and thev. frequently have a lower chiinney 
height than an indoor stove. Restricted airflow and low operating temperatures can cause smoldering that 
results in excessive smoke. The smoke can cause both acute and chronic health problems if nearby,  residents 
are exposed. Sparsely populated rural towns will likely not need to regulate outdoor wood7 firedfarnaces. 
However, if your municipality is more developed or has had citizen complaints about outdoor wood-fired 
furnaces, you my want to consider the following alternatives. Your municipality will need to decide whether to 
entirely ban outdoor wood furnaces in certain areas, whether to allow outdoor wood furnaces under specified 
conditions or whether not to regulate them at all. Based upon that decision. the appropriate„provisions from 
amongrthose suggested in this model may be chosen.) 

!(Alternative 1) No person shall install, use or maintain an outdoor wood-fired furnace in the 'Pack one:  
county, city, village or town'  of  [name].  (Note to Those DraftinR Ordinances:  If you want a prohibition on 
outdoor wood-fired furnaces to apply to only a portion of the municipality, see the suggestion in Alternative 2, 
section 9.1 below . In most cases, only an incorporated municipality will consider a prohibition for the entire 
municipality) 
or 

(Alternative 2) An outdoor wood-fired furnace may be installed and used in the Wick one: county, city, 
village or towel  of  Enamel  only in accordance with the following provisions: 

9.1. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall be installed and used only in an area zoned for agricultural 
use. (Omit this section or insert other zoning areas in addition to agricultural as appropriate for the 
needs of your municipality). 
9.2. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall not used to burn any of the prohibited materials listed in 
Section 6 of this ordinance. 
9.3. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall be located at least 'insert a distance appropriate for the 
municipality]  from the nearest building which is not on the same property as the outdoor wood-fired 
furnace. ('Choose a minimum distance such as 300 feet, 500 feet or other greater or lesser distance as 
appropriate for your municipality. For the reasons cited in the introductory note to this section, a 
substantial minimum distance is recommended.) 
9.4. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall have a chimney that extends at least Jinsert a minimum 
height]  above the ground surface. If there are any residences within [insert a specified distance] (A  
distance such as 500 feet or greater is recommende4  the chimney shall also extend at least as high 
above the ground surface as the height of the roofs of all such residences._ The Fire Chief may 
approve a lesser height on a case-by-case basis if necessary to comply with manufacturer's 
recommendations and if the smoke from the lower chimney height does not create a nuisance for 
neighbors. !A minimum height of 15 feet is recommended or the municipality may choose another 
minimum height appropriate for the municipality and the required minimum separation to neighbors.) 
(Note to Those Draltinar Ordinances:  A chimney height equivalent to the chimney in a building 
should help with smoke dispersion. However, higher chimney heights may increase problems with 
creosote build-up. An insulated chimney as well as case-by-case discretion is recommended for that 
reason.) 
9.5. The owner of the outdoor wood-fired furnace shall obtain an annual permit from the Fire Chief 
in accordance with Section 12 of this ordinance if the furnace is located within jinsert a specified 
distance . 'Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  If you want to require a permit of all outdoor wood-
fired furnaces, end the sentence after the word "ordinance". If you don't want to require any permits 

7 

P52 



for outdoor wood-firedfitrnaces, omit this paragraph entirely. If you want to require a permit only if 
there are nearby neighbors, insert an appropriate distance such as 500 or 1000 feet). 

SECTION 10: FIRE DEPARTMENT PRACTICE BURNS 
(Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  The language suggested in Section 10 regarding fire department practice burns 
Is consistent with state administrative rules governing that activity. See s. NR 502.11(2)(c), Wis. Adm. Code. If a 
municipality elects not to include this section. practice burns might be prohibited by other provisions of the ordinance 
ice.g. the prohibitions in sections 5 and 6 of this model) . If a section on practice burns is included in the ordinance, it 
must be at least as stringent as state regulations.) 

10.00 Fire department practice burns. 
41ternative 1 (short version): Notwithstanding sections 5 and 6 of this ordinance, the [insert name of Fire 
Department] may bum a standing building if necessary for fire fighting practice and if the practice burn 
complies with the requirements of the Department of Natural Resources. 
or 
41ternative 2 (long version): Except as provided in this section for fire department practice burns, an existing 
unwanted building in the I Pick one: county, city, village or town'  of [name"  may not be burned. A building, 
which is no longer standing, may not be used for a practice burn. 

10.1. An existing building may be burned only by the [insert name of Fire Department] and only if 
the Fire Chief determines that the burning is necessary for practice and instruction of fire fighters or 
fire fighting equipment. 
10.2. Asphalt shingles and asphalt or plastic siding shall be removed prior to the practice burn unless 
the Fire Chief determines that they are necessary for the fire practice. 
10.3. A demolition notification shall be submitted to the Department of Natural Resources and all 
asbestos removed prior to the practice bum. 
10.4. All ash shall be disposed of in an approved landfill or at an alternative location approved by the 
Department of Natural Resources. 
10.5. At least 'insert an appropriate number of hours or days[  before a planned practice burn the 
Fire Chief or designee shall notify residents within 'insert a distance appropriate for the 
municipality'  of the site of the proposed burn. (For example. an  ordinance could require notification 
of residents at least 48 hours in advance if they are within 1000 feet of the proposed burn site.) 

SECTION 11: EXEMPTION FOR BURNING CERTAIN PAPERS 
11.00 Exemption for burning certain papers. (Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  The Department of 
Natural Resources recommends that papers of a confidential nature be shredded and recycled rather than 
burned. This Section allows paper and cardboard products to be burned for beneficial use as starter fuel and 
it allows confidential papers from a residence to be burned. This exemption does not allow burning for 
disposal of materials that are required to be recycled. State regulations do not contain an explicit section 
similar to this, but the Department of Natural Resources believes that this section is consistent with state 
regulations and that municipalities may include this section in their ordinance at their discretion.) 

11.1. Notwithstanding Subsection 6.17 of this ordinance, paper and cardboard products may be used 
as a starter fuel for a fire that is allowed under this ordinance 
11.2. Small quantities of confidential papers from a residence may be burned if necessary to prevent 
the theft of financial records, identification or other confidential information. 
11.3. Confidential papers from a commercial enterprise shall be shredded or destroyed in a manner 
other than burning. 
11.4. A fire set for burning of a small quantity of confidential papers shall be subject to and comply 
with Subsections 7.1-7.3, 7.6, and 7.11-7.15 of this ordinance. 

SECTION 12: BURNING PERMITS 
12.00 Burning Permits. (Note to Those Drafting Ordinances:  State regulations do not require 
municipalities to issue burning permits. Under state law in an unincorporated "intensive  forest fire protection 
area" a burning permit must be obtained from the Department of Natural Resources or an emergency fire 

8 

P53 



warden for open burning anytime the ground is not snow covered. In an unincorporated "extensive  forest fire 
protection area" a permit is required from the Department ofNatural Resources anytime the ground is not 
snow covered during the months of January through May. See Chap. IVR 30. Wis. .4dm. Code. In all 
.ncorworated municipalities and in towns that are not in "intenvive" or ''extensive" forest lire protection areas. 
.he municipality has the discretion to determine '1,•zzetiter or not nut lung permits are required. Burning permits 
are commonly required by local ordinance in incorporated areas and in more populous towns outside of 
Department of Natural Resources forest fire protection areas. Alternatives 1 and 2 for intensive and extensive 
forest fire protection areas do not cover burning permits for outdoor wood-firedfienaces. If your municipality 
wants to require permits for some or all outdoor wood-fired furnaces, choose the appropriate language in 
sections 12.4 through 12.7.) 

(Alternative 1: for towns in "intensive  torest fire protection areas") Except for cooking or warming fires, no 
person shall start or allow any open burning when the ground is not covered with snow unless the person has 
either obtained a burning permit from the Department of Natural Resources or an authorized emergency fire 
warden. 
or 
(Alternative 2: for towns in "extensive forest fire protection areas") Except for cooking or warming fires, no 
person shall start or allow any open burning during January through May when the ground is not covered with 
snow unless the person has either obtained a burning permit from the Department of Natural Resources or an 
authorized emergency fire warden. 

(Alternative 3: for consideration by incorporated municipalities and all other towns. Towns in forest fire 
protection areas may also want to consider the provisions of this section relqied to an annual perm k) 

12.1. No person shall start or maintain any open burning without a burning permit issued by the 
[insert "Fire Chief". or name of other office, or titlefs) of other person(s) authorized to issue 
burning permits]. 
12.2. An outdoor campfire does not require a permit provided that the fire complies with all other 
applicable provisions of this ordinance. 
12.3. Any person responsible for burning leaves, brush, clean wood or other vegetative debris under 
Section 7 of this ordinance shall obtain a one-time burning permit before starting the fire. The fee for 
each one-time burning permit shall be [insert cost of one-time permit].  (Note to Those Drafting 
Ordinances:  Burning permits are commonly issued without a fee. Your municipality will have to 
decide whether or not to require a fee and how to collect it.) 
12.4. tUse this section if required by section 8.5 and/or section 9.5.) The owner or occupant of the 
property shall obtain an annual burning permit for each (insert the following as appropriate and as 
required by sections 8.5 and 9.5) burn barrel or outdoor wood-fired furnace before using the burn 
barrel or outdoor wood-fired furnace. The fee for each annual burning permit shall be [insert cost of 
annual permit/.  (Note to Those Dratline Ordinances:  Burning permits are commonly issued 
without a fee. Your municipality will have to decide whether or not to require a fee and how to collect 
it.) An annual permit expires on [insert annual date of expiration]  of each year. 
12.5. When weather conditions warrant, the Fire Chief or the Department of Natural Resources may 
declare a burning moratorium on all open burning and temporarily suspend previously issued burning 
permits for open burning. 
12.6. A burning permit issued under this section shall require compliance with all applicable 
provisions of this ordinance and any additional special restrictions deemed necessary to protect public 
health and safety. 
12.7. Any violation of the conditions of a burning permit shall be deemed a violation of this 
ordinance. Any violation of this ordinance or the burning permit shall void the permit. 

SECTION 13: LIABILITY 
13.00 Liability. A person utilizing or maintaining an outdoor fire shall be responsible for all fire suppression 
costs and any other liability resulting from damage caused by the fire. 

SECTION 14: RIGHT OF ENTRY AND INSPECTION 

9 

P54 



14.00 Right of entry and inspection. The Fire Chief or any authorized officer, agent, employee or 
representative of the JPick one: county, city, village or town'  of  [name'.  who presents credentials may inspect 
any property for the purpose of ascertaining compliance with the provisions of this ordinance. Note: If the 
owner or occupant of the premises denies access to the property for this purpose, a special inspection warrant 
may be obtained in accordance with sections 66.122 and 66.123, Wis. Stats. 

SECTION 15: ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES 
15.00 Enforcement and penalties. 

15.1. The Fire Chief and [insert titles of other designated municipal officials]  are authorized to 
enforce the provisions of this ordinance. 
15.2. The penalty for violation of any portion of this ordinance shall be a forfeiture of not less than 
[insert amount of minimum penalty]  or more than 'insert amount of maximum penalty]  plus the 
cost of prosecution. Penalties are doubled for second and subsequent offenses. I(IVote to Those 
Draftinff Ordinances:  Consider penalties of $2.5 minimum and $250 maximum or some other rynge 
appropriate for the particular municipality.. 

10 

P55 



Part III. 	Example Ordinance 
(For a fictitious rural and suburban town in Wisconsin with a volunteer fire 
department and a population of 2600) 

EXPLANATION OF THIS EXAMPLE ORDINANCE: Following is an example of what a local ordinance might 
look like for a rural town. This is not an actual ordinance. The Town of Forward is fictitious. The Model Ordinance in 
Part II of this publication contains numerous alternatives for municipalities to consider and detailed explanations of the 
various provisions and alternatives. As a result, at first glance the Model Ordinance in Part II may appear to be overly 
'lengthy and complex. This "Example Ordinance" has been included to show municipalities what a shorter end product 
might look like. Municipalities are urged not to use this example directly because that would not allow them to 
consider all the alternatives in the Part II Model Ordinance and to select the alternatives that best meet their needs. 

Outdoor and Refuse Burning Ordinance for the Town of Forward. 

Ordinance No. 3-A-2005 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 
1.00 Purpose. This ordinance is intended to promote the public health, safety and welfare and to safeguard the 
health, comfort, living conditions, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Forward, Victory County, 
Wisconsin due to the air pollution and fire hazards of open burning, outdoor burning and refuse burning. 

SECTION 2: APPLICABILITY 
2.00 Applicability. This ordinance applies to all outdoor burning and refuse burning within the Town of 
Forward. 

2.1. This ordinance does not apply to grilling or cooking using charcoal, wood, propane or natural gas in 
cooking or grilling appliances. 
2.2. This ordinance does not apply to burning in a stove, furnace, fireplace or other heating device 
within a building used for human or animal habitation unless the material being burned includes refuse as 
defined in Section 4 of this ordinance. 
2.3. This ordinance does not apply to the use of propane, acetylene, natural gas, gasoline or kerosene in 
a device intended for heating, construction or maintenance activities. 

SECTION 3: SEVERABILITY 
3.00 Severability. Should any portion of this ordinance be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected. 

SECTION 4: DEFINITIONS 
4.00 Definitions. 

4.1. "Campfire" means a small outdoor fire intended for recreation or cooking not including a fire 
intended for disposal of waste wood or refuse. 
4.2. "Clean Wood" means natural wood which has not been painted, varnished or coated with a similar 
material, has not been pressure treated with preservatives and does not contain resins or glues as in 
plywood or other composite wood products. 
4.3. "Confidential papers" means printed material containing personal identification or financial 
information that the owner wishes to destroy. 

11 

P56 



4.4 "Fire Chief' means the Chief of the Town of Forward Volunteer Fire Department or other person 
authorized by the Fire Chief 
4.5. "Outdoor Burning" means open burning or burning in an outdoor wood-fired furnace. 
4.6. "Open Burning" means kindling or maintaining a fire where the products of combustion are emitted 
directly into the ambient air without passing through a stack or a chimney from an enclosed chimney. 
4.7. "Outdoor Wood-fired Furnace" means a wood-fired furnace, stove or boiler that is not located 
within a building intended for habitation by humans or domestic animals. 
4.8. "Refuse" means any waste material except clean wood. 

SECTION 5: GENERAL PROHIBITION ON OPEN BURNING, OUTDOOR BURNING AND REFUSE 
BURNING 

5.00 General prohibition on outdoor burning and refuse burning. Open burning, outdoor burning and 
refuse burning are prohibited in the Town of Forward unless the burning is specifically permitted by this 
ordinance. 

SECTION 6: MATERIALS THAT MAY NOT BE BURNED 
6.00 Materials that may not be burned. 

6.10 Unless a specific written approval has been obtained from the Department of Natural Resources, 
the following materials may not be burned in an open fire, incinerator, bum barrel, furnace, stove or 
any other indoor or outdoor incineration or heating device. The Town of Forward will not issue a 
permit for burning any of the following materials without air pollution control devices and a written 
copy of an approval by the Department of Natural Resources. 
6.11. Rubbish or garbage including but not limited to food wastes, food wraps, packaging, animal 
carcasses, paint or painted materials, furniture, composite shingles, construction or demolition debris 
or other household or business wastes. 
6.12. Waste oil or other oily wastes except used oil burned in a heating device for energy recovery 
subject to the restrictions in Chapter NR 590, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
6.13. Asphalt and products containing asphalt. 
6.14. Treated or painted wood including but not limited to plywood, composite wood products or 
other wood products that are painted, varnished or treated with preservatives. 
6.15. Any plastic material including but not limited to nylon, PVC, ABS, polystyrene or urethane 
foam, and synthetic fabrics, films and containers. 
6.16. Rubber including tires and synthetic rubber-like products. 
6.17. Newspaper, corrugated cardboard, container board, office paper and other materials that must 
be recycled in accordance with the recycling ordinance except as provided in Section 11 of this 
ordinance. 

SECTION 7: OPEN BURNING OF LEAVES, BRUSH, CLEAN WOOD AND OTHER VEGETATIVE 
DEBRIS 

7.00 Burning leaves, brush, clean wood and other vegetative debris. 
Open burning of leaves, weeds, brush, stumps, clean wood other vegetative debris is allowed only in 

accordance with the following provisions: 
7.1. All allowed open burning shall be conducted in a safe nuisance free manner, when wind and 
weather conditions are such as to minimize adverse effects and not create a health hazard or a 
visibility hazard on roadways, railroads or airfields. Open burning shall be conducted in conformance 
with all local and state fire protection regulations. 
7.2. Except for barbecue, gas and charcoal grills, no open burning shall be undertaken during periods 
when either the Fire Chief or the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources has issued a burning 
ban applicable to the area. 
7.3. Open burning shall be conducted only on the property on which the materials were generated or 
at a facility approved by and in accordance with provisions established by the Department of Natural 
Resources and the Fire Chief. 

12 

P57 



7.4. Unless explicitly allowed elsewhere in this ordinance, a commercial enterprise other than an 
agricultural or silvicultural operation may open burn only at a facility approved by and in accordance 
with provisions established by the Department of Natural Resources and the Fire Chief. 
7.5. Open burning of weeds or brush on agricultural lands is allowed if conducted in accordance with 
other applicable provisions of this ordinance. 
7.6. Fires set for forest or wildlife habitat management are allowed with the approval of the 
Department of Natural Resources. 
7.7. Outdoor campfires and small bonfires for cooking, ceremonies or recreation are allowed 
provided that the fire is confined by a control device or structure such as a barrel, fire ring, or fire pit. 
Bonfires are allowed only if approved by and in accordance with provisions established by the Fire 
Chief. 
7.8. Burning of trees, limbs, stumps, brush or weeds for clearing or maintenance of rights-of-way is 
allowed if approved by the Fire Chief and if in accordance with other provisions of this ordinance. 
7.9. Burning in emergency situations such as natural disasters is allowed if approved by the 
Department of Natural Resources. 
7.10. Open burning under this Section shall be conducted only following issuance of and in 
accordance with a permit issued under Section 11 of this ordinance. 
7.11. Except for campfires, open burning under this section shall only be conducted at a location at 
least 250 feet from the nearest building that is not on the same property. 
7.12. Except for campfires and permitted bonfires, open burning shall only be conducted from the 
hours of noon and 6:00 PM. 
7.13. Open burning shall be constantly attended and supervised by a competent person of at least 
eighteen (18) years of age until the fire is extinguished and is cold. The person shall have readily 
available for use such fire extinguishing equipment as may be necessary for the total control of the 
fire. 
7.14. No materials may be burned upon any street, curb, gutter or sidewalk or on the ice of a lake, 
pond, stream or waterbody. 
7.15. Except for barbecue, gas and charcoal grills, no burning shall be undertaken within 25 feet from 
any combustible material, combustible wall or partition, exterior window opening, exit access or exit 
unless authorized by the Fire Chief. 

SECTION 8: BURN BARRELS 
8.00 Burn barrels. 
A burn barrel may be used in the Town of Forward only in accordance with the following provisions: 

8.1. The burn barrel shall not be used to burn any of the prohibited materials listed in Section 6 of this 
ordinance and may only be used in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 of this ordinance. 
8.2. The burn barrel shall be located at least 250 feet from the nearest building that is not on the same 
property as the burn barrel. 
8.3. The burn barrel shall have vent holes above the ash line for combustion air and shall be covered 
with a heavy wire screen. 
8.4. The burn barrel shall not serve a business. 
8.5. The owner of the burn barrel shall obtain an annual permit from the Fire Chief in accordance 
with Section 12 of this ordinance. 

SECTION 9: OUTDOOR WOOD-FIRED FURNACES 
9.00 Outdoor wood-fired furnaces. 
An outdoor wood-fired furnace may be used in the Town of Forward only in accordance with the following 
provisions: 

9.1. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall not used to burn any of the prohibited materials listed in 
Section 6 of this ordinance. 
9.2. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall be located at least 500 feet from the nearest building which 
is not on the same property as the outdoor wood furnace. 
9.3. The outdoor wood-fired furnace shall have a chimney that extends at least 15 feet above the 
ground surface. The Fire Chief may approve a lesser height on a case-by-case basis if necessary to 

13 

P58 



comply with manufacturer recommendations and if the smoke from the lower chimney height does 
not create a nuisance for neighbors. 

SECTION 10: FIRE DEPARTMENT PRACTICE BURNS 
10.00 Fire department practice burns. Notwithstanding sections 5 and 6 of this ordinance, the Town of 
Forward Volunteer Fire Department may burn a standing building if necessary for fire fighting practice and if 
the practice burn complies with the requirements of the Department of Natural Resources. 

SECTION 11: EXEMPTION FOR BURNING CERTAIN PAPERS 
11.00 Exemption for burning certain papers. 

11.1. Notwithstanding Subsection 6.17 of this ordinance, paper and cardboard products may be used 
as a starter fuel for a fire that is allowed under this ordinance 
11.2. Small quantities of confidential papers from a residence may be burned if necessary to prevent 
the theft of financial records, identification or other confidential information. 
11.3. Confidential papers from a commercial enterprise shall be shredded or destroyed in a manner 
other than burning. 
11.4. A fire set for burning of a small quantity of confidential papers shall be subject to and comply 
with Subsections 7.1-7.3, 7.6, and 7.11-7.15 of this ordinance. 

SECTION 12: BURNING PERMITS 
12.00 Burning Permits. 

12.1. No person shall start or maintain any open burning without a burning permit issued by the 
Town of Forward Volunteer Fire Department. 
12.2. An outdoor campfire does not require a permit provided that the fire complies with all other 
applicable provisions of this ordinance. 
12.3. Any person responsible for burning leaves, brush, clean wood or other vegetative debris under 
Section 7 of this ordinance shall obtain a one-time burning permit before starting the fire. There is no 
fee for a one-time burning permit. 
12.4. The owner or occupant of the property shall obtain an annual burning permit for each burn 
barrel before using the burn barrel. The fee for each annual burning permit shall be ten dollars ($10). 
An annual permit expires on April lof each year. 
12.5. When weather conditions warrant, the Fire Chief or the Department of Natural Resources may 
declare a burning moratorium on all open burning and temporarily suspend previously issued burning 
permits for open burning. 
12.6. A burning permit issued under this section shall require compliance with all applicable 
provisions of this ordinance and any additional special restrictions deemed necessary to protect public 
health and safety. 
12.7. Any violation of the conditions of a burning permit shall be deemed a violation of this 
ordinance. Any violation of this ordinance or the burning permit shall void the permit. 

SECTION 13: LIABILITY 
13.00 Liability. A person utilizing or maintaining an outdoor fire shall be responsible for all fire suppression 
costs and any other liability resulting from damage caused by the fire. 

SECTION 14: RIGHT OF ENTRY AND INSPECTION 
14.00 Right of entry and inspection. The Fire Chief or any authorized officer, agent, employee or 
representative of the Town of Forward Volunteer Fire Department or the Town of Forward who presents 

14 

P59 



credentials may inspect any property for the purpose of ascertaining compliance with the provisions of this 
ordinance. Note: If the owner or occupant of the premises denies access to the property for this purpose, a 
special inspection warrant may be obtained in accordance with sections 66.122 and 66.123, Wis. Stats. 

SECTION 15: ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES 
15.00 Enforcement and penalties. 

15.1. The Fire Chief and the Town Chairman are authorized to enforce the provisions of this 
ordinance. 
15.2. The penalty for violation of any portion of this ordinance shall be a forfeiture of not less than 
twenty-five dollars ($25) or more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250) plus the cost of prosecution. 
Penalties are doubled for second and subsequent offenses. 

15 

P60 



Part IV 	 Reference Materials 

Burn Barrels: Unhealthy, Unnecessary, Unneighborly and Usually 
Illegal. 

Unhealthy 
Smoke from burning garbage contains toxic compounds, often including dioxin, furans and other 
carcinogens. The ash, which some folks place on their garden, may contain heavy metals such as 
lead and cadmium. 

Unnecessary 
If you have a burn barrel, take a look at what you're burning. Most paper and cardboard can and 
should be recycled. Today, waste collection service is available nearly everywhere, and the 
collection businesses offer wheeled carts and recycling containers for convenient, economical, end-
of-driveway service. 

Unneighborly 
You probably don't enjoy the stink of burning garbage, and neither does your neighbor. Think about 
how your decision to burn garbage affects others. 

Usually Used Illegally 
Open burning of household solid wastes, whether or not in a burn barrel, is prohibited by law, with 
limited exceptions. This prohibition includes all plastic materials, kitchen wastes, dirty or wet paper 
wastes, treated or painted wood, furniture, and demolition material - or any other material that 
creates a nuisance. The exceptions (for households only - not businesses) include (if not prohibited 
by local ordinance) lawn and garden debris, small quantities of clean, untreated, unpainted wood 
and clean paper waste that is not recyclable. Outdoor fires for cooking, or for "warming up" are 
okay and do not require any special approvals unless environmental conditions pose a great risk for 
forest fires. 

16 

P61 



Wisconsin Statewide Law on Open Burning: 
Which Materials Are Legal To Burn?  

Which of these household materials can be legally  burned in a burn barrel or an 
open fire on the same property where generated? 

State law does not prohibit burning small dry quantities of the household materials with a 4mark, if 
they are burned on the same property where generated. Local ordinances may be more 
restrictive; check with your local municipality before burning. (The number listed after the materials 
below refers to the legal explanations of why the item may or may not be burned.) 

Plastic Milk Jug 1,5 
4 Leaves (dry) 8 

Treated Lumber 3 
Newspaper 5 
Insulated Electrical Wire 1 
Rubber Hose 1 
Tires 1 

4 Tree Branches 8,9 
Plastic Garbage Bags 1 
Waste Oil 4 
Asphalt Shingles 1 
Painted Siding 3 

4 Clean Dry Firewood 9 
Nylon Upholstery Fabric 
1,2  

Corrugated Cardboard 5 
Asphalt Sealant 1 
Plastic Food Wrap 1 
Plywood 6 
Plastic Pipe 1 
Food Waste / Garbage 4 
Wooden Furniture 3 
Plastic siding 1 
Aluminum Beer Cans 5 

4 Pine Needles 8 
Nylon Carpet 1,2 
Polystyrene Plates 1,2 
Tar Paper 1 
Polystyrene Foam 
Packaging 1,2  

Plastic Soda Bottles 1,2 
Magazines / Catalogues 5 

4 	Waste Mail 7 
OSB / Composite Board 6 
Plastic Weed Barrier 1 
Water Softener Salt Bag 
1,2 

4 	Paper Plates / Cups 10 
4 	Napkins / Paper Towel 10 
4 	Paper Grocery Bags 7 

Plastic Vapor Barrier 1 
Plastic Toys 1 
Old Building 11 

4 Untreated Unpainted 
Lumber 9 

Urethane Foam Pad 1,2 

Explanations & Alternatives: 
1. All plastic, rubber and asphalt materials are prohibited from open burning under state 

law. 
2. This synthetic material is "plastic" and may not be burned. 
3. Wood that is painted or chemically treated may not be burned under state law. 
4. These materials are specifically prohibited from open burning under state law. 
5. These materials must be recycled under state and local recycling laws. They cannot be 

burned. (It is legal to use a small amount of paper or cardboard material to kindle a fire.) 
6. These materials contain resins and glues making them unsuitable for burning. They are 

not "dry unpainted, untreated wood" as referenced and exempted in the law. 
7. Even though state law allows burning after removing any plastic, many local recycling 

programs cover these materials. Recycling is a better alternative. If recycling is not an 
option, proper disposal is better than burning. 

8. Even though state law allows burning, composting and/or beneficial use of this material 
is a better alternative. 

9. Clean dry unpainted untreated wood is legal to burn, but if it isn't going to be 
beneficially used for heating, consider options other than burning. 

10. This waste paper material is not recyclable. Proper disposal is a better option than 
burning. Wet paper or paper mixed with plastic can't be burned. 

11. Individuals or businesses may not burn a building. The only exception is that a building 
may be burned only by a fire department for training purposes after notification to DNR 
and removal of illegal materials. 

17 

P62 



Remember:  
• All materials emit pollutants when burned. Generally, the materials that cause the 

most toxic emissions are those that are prohibited from burning under state law. Try to 
avoid burning any waste material. 

• If prohibited and allowed materials are mixed, they cannot be burned. Any prohibited 
materials must be removed before the allowed materials are burned. 

• Check local ordinances! A local municipality may ban the burning of any material 
even if statewide regulations allow it. 

• Check for burning permits. Even if the material is legal to burn, the DNR or the local 
municipality often requires a burning permit. During periods of high fire hazard, burning 
may be prohibited. 

• Consider other alternatives. Even if the material is legal to burn, more environmentally 
sound alternatives are available. 

• This information only applies to small quantities of household waste being burned on 
the same property where generated. The regulations do not allow businesses to burn 
the same materials that a household may. If in question, consult the regulations. 

Additional Information:  
• For additional information, contact your DNR service center or log onto the DNR Open 

Burning Web site: http://dnr.wi.qov/org/caer/ce/ob/.  
Does your municipality have an open burning ordinance? Check with your local clerk or 
fire chief. 

• For additional information on burning permits log onto the DNR Forest Fire Prevention 
Web site: http://dnr.wi.coviorq/land/forestry/Fire/index.htm.   

• The open burning regulations are in ch. NR 429 and s. NR 502.11, Wis. Adm. Code. 
• For games, educational resources and fun on open burning activities, students and 

teachers should log on to Air Defenders web site: http://www.airdefenders.orq/. This 
site is filled with information and activities all about open burning and respiratory health. 

• Looking for a presentation about open burning? Contact the Department of Natural 
Resources Bureau of Air Management at 608-266-7718. 

• You can download an electronic copy of this Model Ordinance from the WDNR Web 
site http://www.dnr.state.wi.us/orq/caer/ce/ob/. The Ordinance is available as a PDF or 
as a Microsoft Word document. 

• For more information on open burning, and what is happening nationally on the issue, 
log onto EPA's Open Burning Web site: 

htto://www.epa.00v.epaoswer/non-hw/muncol/backyard/ 

18 

P63 



This website uses cookies. By continuing you are agreeing to our Ki 

CliNAT 

AMERICAN LUNG ASSOCIATION, 

      

How can we help you? 

        

Healthy Air 

Our Initiatives Residential Wood Burning 

Burning wood produces emissions that are widely recognized as harmful to human 

health. Many of these harmful emissions can occur both indoors and outdoors and 

many devices operate around the clock. People with lung disease face special risks. 

but so do children. older adults. oeoole with cardiovascular disease and diabetics. 

Wood-Burning Emissions Threaten Lung Health 

Protect Yourself from Wood-Burning Emissions 

Reduce Your Pollution with Cleaner Devices and Fuels 

Implement a Wood Stove Change-out Program 

Wood-Burning Emissions Threaten Lung Health 

Emissions from wood smoke. discussed below. can cause coughing. wheezing, 

asthma attacks, heart attacics, lung cancer. and premature death, among other 

nyaith effects.-  Many of these pollutants can worsen air quality 'moors and 

outdoors. 

Particle nollotion, In some piaces. wood-burning is the major source of 

particle pollution. 

Carbon monoxine. Wood smoke add to the outdoor levels of carbon 

monoxide. as well as increasing indoor concentrations 

Nitri.gen crudes. Nitrogen oxides harm health indoors and outdoors. and 

neaps create particle pollution. 

Volatile organic cor,•priunci Tnese gases include harmful pollutants and 

contribute to creating ozone pollution. Some of these gases are carcinogens. 

including benzene and formaldehyde. 

Climae change pod,trion. Wood smoke adds carbon dioxide and methane to 

the air. two pollutants that contribute significantly to climate change. 

H. 

P64 



Protect Yourself from Wood-Burning Emissions 

Wood stoves, hydronic heaters and other appliances are often used 24-hours a day. 

which can substantially worsen air quality outdoors. If wood-burning is affecting air 

quality in your neighborhood: 

Stay indoors: Children, older adults and people with lung disease, 

cardiovascular disease or diabetes should remain indoors and avoid 

breathing smoke, ashes and other pollution in the area. 

Don't count on a dust mask: Ordinary dust masks, designed to filter out large 

particles, will not help. They still allow the more dangerous smaller particles 

to pass through. Special, more expensive dust masks with true HEPA filters 

will filter out the damaging fine particles but are difficult for people with lung 

disease to use. Consult with your doctor before using a mask, especially if you 

have a lung disease. 

Take precautions for kids: Extra precaution should be taken for children, who 

are more susceptible to smoke. Their lungs are still developing and they 

breathe in more air (and consequently more pollution) per pound of body 

mass than adults. 

Roll up your car windows: When driving your car in smoky areas, keep your 

windows and vents closed. Air conditioning should only he operated in the 

"recirculate" setting. 

Put air conditioners on recirculate: Stay inside as much as possible. with 

doors. windows and fireplace dampers shut and preferably with clean air 

circulating through air conditioners and air cleaners. Use air conditioners in 

the recirculation setting to keep from pulling outside air into the room. 

Don't exercise outdoors especially if you smell smoke or notice eye or throat 

irritation. 

Reduce Your Pollution 

Avoid burning wood 

Avoid burning wood. corn. switchgrass or other products to heat the home or water. 

Especially during high pollution days. burning can add pollution to the outdoor air.  

Look for alternatives to heat your home. More and more homes are shifting to 

alternatives such as solar panels and electric or geothermal heat pumps. Find 

information on these heat sources for your home at v,,,wvi.ene:i 

Chose a cleaner device 

If you must burn a fuel to heat your home or water, natural gas stoves and heaters 

have lower particle pollution emissions than wood-burning devices. However, they 

need to he fully vented to the outdoors as they also produced some of the same 

pollutants indoors and out. including carbon monoxide. 

P65 



If you decide to burn wood, then look for the cleanest burning devices. The U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency adopted new standards for wood-burning 

devices in 2015. but manufacturers will have until 2020 to phase them in and make 

their equipment cleaner and more energy efficient. Some devices currently meet 

the 2020 standards and have hangtags showing this certification. 

Woodstoves, pellet stoves. and hydronic heaters: Retailers should only sell 

stoves that meet the 2015 or 2020 standards. Look for a permanent label 

that indicates they are certified to meet the 2015 standards. Even cleaner 

and more fuel efficient stoves will be phased in through 2020. Some 

already n:t-fq thost_ 102U scardarcls. according to EPA. 

Wood-fired forced air furnaces. Cleaner warm air furnaces are being phased 

in now and will be fully in place for all devices manufactured in 2020. 2 

Chose a better fuel 

If you cannot switch to solar. heat pumps or natural gas and still need to burn fuel in 

your device, then make sure your fuel burns as cleanly as possible. Pellets and dry 

wood can burn cleaner and more efficiently than other woods. For tips on burning 

wood. see tips at the EPA's Burn Vise information. 

Implement a Wood Stove Change-out Program 

EPA estimates that 65 percent of the woodstoves in use in the U.S. are older devices 

that produce significant pollution and do not burn efficiently.' Some communities 

have put in place woodstove change out programs to neip communities. especially 

low-income families. benefit from cleaner air and more efficient heating. EPA 

has g, ituw1c, t. 	uh 	i ,tt*, put such program in place, 

The Lung Association is working with some local communities to Implement 

woodstove change-our programs to heir) residents upgrade to cleaner-ourning, 

more energy-efficient heating appliances and technologies. t 	yir 	L ,41. 
• 	cot iai 

EB Sources 

News & Events 

News: American LAI;  Associ-*;on St. e:ng iv Opposes EPA's Rollbacl or 

Methane Pollaion Stanoaraz 

News: How or, . 	 OP91 it. 	 CP 	erm 

tipaAtio 

P66 



    

Environmental Topics Laws & Regulations 	About Lt'A 

    

    

Burn Wise 
	 CONTACT VS SHARE rf) (v.) ti(2) 

Burn Wise Home 
	

Wood Smoke and Your Health 
What You Can Do 

Wood Smoke Resources in 
Your State 

Wood Smoke and Your 
Health 

Consumers 

Air Agencies 

Businesses 

Education and Outreach Carbon Monoxide 

Oct ixt ors 

Smoke from wood that is 

not burned completely 

contains a number of 

chemicals, including 

carbon monoxide (CO). 

More than 150 people die 

annually from CO 

poisoning related to the 

use of home heating 

appliances. 

CO is odorless and 

colorless. If you use a wood 

stove or fireplace, install a 

digital CO detector, which 

sounds an alarm when CO 
levels increase. 

An official website of the United States government. 

EiN,
Untteo States 

twaonmantal Prolactwp 
ARMS 

- f,arth EPA goy 

On this page: 

• What is wood smoke?  

• Health effects of wood smoke 

• Who is at risk from wood smoke? 

• Environmental effects 

What is wood smoke? 
Smoke forms when wood or other organic matter burns. The smoke 

from wood burning is made up of a complex mixture of gases and 

fine particles (also called particle pollution, particulate matter, or 

PM). In addition to particle pollution, wood smoke contains several 

toxic harmful air pollutants including: 

• benzene, 

• formaldehyde, 

• acrolein, and 

• potycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). 

The more efficiently you burn wood (e.g., using an EPA-certified 

wood stove and dry, seasoned wood) the less smoke is created. 

of Pa 

Health effects of wood smoke 
Smoke may smell good, but it's not good 

for you. The biggest health threat from 

smoke is from fine particles, also called 

fine particulate matter or PM2.5. These 

A 

	

	microscopic particles can get into your eyes and respiratory system, where 

they may cause burning eyes, runny nose, and illnesses, such as bronchitis. 

Click on image to enlarge 

Fine particles can make asthma symptoms worse and trigger asthma 

attacks. Fine particles can also trigger heart attacks, stroke, irregular heart rhythms, and heart failure, 

especially in people who are already at risk for these conditions. 

Learn more about the health and envirormirnt..1 effects or f.rie particie5. 

41'• lbr. 01 Pa 

• • •• 

P67 



Discover. 	 Connect. 	 Ask. 

At ces,,ibility 	 Data .gov 	 Coindct I.PA 

I. l'A Administrator 	 111,i:et:tor General 	 I loilinc,  

Budget 8., Performance 	 Jobs 	 FOIA Requests 

Contracting 	 Newsroom 	 1.requent Questions 

Who is at risk from wood smokett 
Wood smoke can affect everyone, but children, teenagers, older 

adults, people with lung disease, including asthma and COPD or 

people with heart diseases are the most vulnerable. Research 

indicates that obesity or diabetes may also increase risk. New or 

expectant mothers may also want to take precautions to protect 

the health of their babies, because some studies indicate they may 

be at increased risk. 

It's important to limit your exposure to smoke—especially if you are 

more susceptible than others: 

• If you have heart or lung disease, such as congestive heart 

failure, angina, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, 

emphysema or asthma, you may experience health effects 

earlier and at lower smoke levels than healthy people. 

• Older adults are more likely to be affected by smoke, possibly 

because they are more likely to have chronic heart or lung 

diseases than younger people. 

• Children also are more susceptible to smoke for several reasons: 

their respiratory systems are still developing, 

they breathe more air (and air pollution) per pound of body 

weight than adults, and 

they are more likely to be active outdoors. 

Leal n noy, tc reduce woo smoke ono 7U..-e  /ou,  

Environmental effects of wood 
smoke 
The particles in wood smoke can r: 	!ha r  . Particles 

can also create environmental and aesthetic damage in our 

communities and scenic areas - like national parks. 

Smoke Detectors 

Each year, about 3,000 

people die in residential 

fires in the U.S. - mainly 

from smoke inhalation. A 

properly installed and 

maintained smoke alarm is 

one of the best and 

cheapest ways to be 

warned early of a 

potentially deadly fire. 

Components of wood 

smoke 

Parttc,-eoviiut,ot  

aenzene  

Formals  ,:gc 

Health resources 

+4QA.  	hie:  

	 yVt.' hattl  

•E 

)14•1711`, 	ree;nth 

EXIT 

Asthma resources 

Nchttaco,  out EXIT 

Outreach materials 

=surrs r, ,,,arf•neSS  

.3C- ). 	 and 

AWI•ria  

crot.act 	to ask a question, provide feedback, or report a problem. 

P68 



Open burning 

Consider 
alternatives to burning. 

Find out  
if you can burn. 

Submit 
a complaint regarding open burning activity. 

Open burning links 

• Know before  you burn  
• Environmental and health impacts 
• Alternatives to burning 
• "Can I burn" tool  
• EggiliatgrY_Uillhgbiy 
• Model ordinance  
• Publications  
• Outdoor wood boilers  

Contact information 
If you have questions or concerns about open burning, see: 
open burning  contacts  

Environmental and health impacts of open burning 
All open burning poses risks to the environment and public health. Smoke pollutes the air we breathe. Ash pollutes our soil, 
groundwater, lakes, rivers and streams. Burning anything in the outdoors can cause a wildfire. Burning only approved 
materials and following state regulations can minimize the potential for these harmful effects. 

• Smoke 
• Wildfire 
• Ash 
• Additional resources 

Smoke 

Environmental impacts of smoke 

Burning prohibited materials, such as garbage, plastic and painted or treated wood is harmful to the environment because 
these materials release toxic chemicals that pollute our air. Polluted air can be inhaled by humans and animals, and 
deposited in the soil and surface water and on plants. 

Residue from burning contaminates the soil and groundwater, and can enter the human food chain through crops and 
livestock. In addition, certain chemicals released by burning can accumulate in the fats of animals and then in humans as we 
consume meat, fish and dairy products. 

Smoke and soot can travel long distances. Odors can be bothersome to people. Both odors and smoke residue can enter 
houses or can impact anything outside of houses, like cars or hanging laundry. The gases released by open burning can also 

P69 



corrode metal siding and damage paint on buildings. 

Impacts of burning plastic 

Some of the most dangerous chemicals created and released during burning are those from burning plastics, such as dioxins, 
which are byproducts formed when chlorine-containing products are burned. Dioxins tend to adhere to the waxy surface of 
leaves and enter the food chain in this way. Even if certain types of plastic (such as polyethylene or polypropylene) do not 
contain chlorine, other materials attached to or burned with the plastic may be a chlorine source. 

Unburned portions of the plastic become litter on the ground and in lakes and rivers. As it disintegrates, animals may eat the 
plastic and get sick. Larger pieces of plastic can become a breeding ground for diseases, such as by trapping water that 
provides habitat for mosquitoes. 

Health impacts of smoke 

Impacts of smoke from burning clean wood and leaves 

When household waste, like wood and yard waste (leaves) are burned, they produce smoke, which contains vapors and 
particulate matter (solid and liquid droplets suspended in the air). Air pollution from smoke can impact human health. 

People exposed to these air pollutants can experience eye and nose irritation, difficulty breathing, coughing and headaches. 
People with heart disease, asthma, emphysema or other respiratory diseases are especially sensitive to air pollutants. Other 
health problems aggravated by burning include lung infections, pneumonia, bronchiolitis and allergies. 

Impacts of smoke from burning trash and plastic 

Burning trash can cause long-term health problems. The toxic chemicals released during burning include nitrogen oxides, 
sulfur dioxide, volatile organic chemicals (VOCs) and polycyclic organic matter (POMs). Burning plastic and treated wood 
also releases heavy metals and toxic chemicals, such as dioxin. 

Other chemicals released while burning plastic include benzo(a)pyrene (BAP) and polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 
which have both been shown to cause cancer. If agricultural bags or containers are contaminated with pesticides or other 
harmful substances, those will also be released into the air. 

Wildfire 

Environmental impacts of wildfire 

Debris burning is the number one cause of wildfires in Wisconsin and accounts for thousands of acres of forested land 
unintentionally burned and hundreds of structures threatened every year. Unplanned fires pose a serious threat to public 
safety, property and our natural resources. 

Experiencing a wildfire on your property can be devastating. Wildfire damage can be visually disturbing and physically 
disruptive. The environmental impacts are often not over after the flames are put out. Tree mortality, invasive plants, 
erosion and road instability are just some of the dangers landowners face after a wildfire. 

P70 



Health impacts of wildfire 

The unfortunate reality is that some fires can threaten or take lives. It is possible to sustain serious burn injuries, and in 
some cases even die, when attempting to suppress an escaped fire. However, the majority of fatalities are indirectly related 
to the fire (e.g., cardiac arrest due to excessive smoke inhalation, or from the physical or emotional trauma of trying to 
extinguish the fire). 

If a fire escapes your control, never try to suppress the fire yourself. Dial 911 immediately. Uncontrolled wildfires can be 
dangerous for both those responsible for or immediately impacted by the fire, as well as emergency responders, who are 
forced to engage in high-risk suppression efforts that may compromise their health and safety. 

Ash 

Environmental impacts of ash 

Any fire will create ash waste. While wood ash contains some nutrients required by plants for good growth, ash is not good 
for our lakes, ponds and rivers. Ash contains phosphorous, potassium and trace amounts of micro-nutrients, such as iron, 
manganese, boron, copper and zinc, all of which can disrupt the delicate ecosystems of the water bodies. For example, 
phosphorus is a powerful growth agent that stimulates algae growth in water bodies. As important as some algae is to the 
natural food chain, too much algae can result in the formation of scum, foul odors, low oxygen in water and offensive 
views. 

When burning debris, like brush, leaves, tree limbs or clean scrap wood, avoid burning near a waterway shoreline. Burning 
along a shoreline kills vegetation and changes the soil structure, with the end result being more soil erosion into the lake. 

Health impacts of ash 

Ash can impact human health through the leaching of heavy metals and other potentially toxic compounds that can end up 
in streams, lakes and rivers, or in drinking water supplies and our food chain. This is especially true if the materials being 
burned include anything besides dry, combustible rubbish, yard waste and unpainted and untreated wood. Disposal of ash 
waste in a licensed landfill can avoid these problems. 

Additional resources 

Additional resources 

The following resources contain additional information about health and environmental impacts and effects of open 
burning. 

P71 



• DNR's Don't Burn Agricultural Plastics  (WA-1592) [PDF] 
• Wisconsin Department of Health Service's Trash and Wood Burning_[exit DNR] 
• U.S. EPA's Wood Smoke and Your Health  [exit DNR] 
• U.S. EPA's Dioxins Produced by Backyard Burning_[exit DNR] 
• American Chemical Society's Backyard Burning  Identified as Potential Major Source of Dioxins  [exit DNR] 
• Adams County's Solid Waste - Burning  Leaves  [exit DNR] 

Last revised: Monday October 15 2018 

P72 



M Gmail 

Current burning restriction 
--- — 

Jarred Gerl <JGerl@harrison-wi.org> 
To: Kathy Salo <kathy.l.salo@gmail.com> 

Fri, May 8, 2020 at 10:31 AM 

Hello Kathy, 

From a fire prevention perspective, I believe it would be wise to have an ordinance in place. 

I say this from a "just in case" situation. With not having a burn ordinance, both the Fire Department and the Village 
have little recourse should a situation present itself that puts others in danger. Extreme fire hazards, proximity 
concerns, burning garbage, etc. Sherwood is a growing area and I see this as a precautionary step. I have personally 
witnessed some extreme situations where I had to ask myself, "Really?". Burning couches next to garages, burning 
hazardous materials, and the list goes on..... and on! Additionally, we regularly get dispatched to areas where 
passersby individuals call 911 to report fires not knowing it is a controlled burn. When people have a permit to burn in 
Harrison, they are required to contact Calumet County Dispatch and let them know ahead of time to prevent unneeded 
use of emergency resources. 

Hopefully, residents will not see this as a way to prevent them from doing common sense wildland/grass burning. That 
is not the intent. Getting the OK to burn is a simple process. 

Jarred Gerl 

Chief — Harrison Fire Rescue 

From: Kathy Salo <kathy.l.salo@gmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 6, 2020 8:17 AM 
To: Jarred Gerl <JGerl@harrison-wi.org> 
Subject: Re: Current burning restriction 

Good morning Jarred, 

Do you have any thoughts you'd like to share on the previous email regarding Sherwood's open burning regulations? 

Have a great day! 

P73 



Kathy 

On Tue, Apr 28, 2020 at 8:10 AM Kathy Salo <kathy.l.salo@gmail.com> wrote: 

Hi Jarred, 

This does help, thank you. Sherwood is also undergoing a review of it's open burning regulations, not so much in 
fire pits, but leaves and small yard waste piles in their yards. While some are in favor of the ban due to air pollution 
etc., others are opposed because they do not want to take their leaves to the yard waste site. 

Do you have a professional/official opinion regarding this issue? 

Your assistance is appreciated. 

Thank you, 

Kathy 

On Mon, Apr 27, 2020 at 11:11 PM Jarred Gerl <JGerl@harrison-wi.org> wrote: 

Hello Kathy, 

The Harrison restrictions put into play are only for wildland/grass burns. People can still have their "fire pit" fires. 

As far as Sherwood goes, it's more a matter of self-policing. 

Regardless of where someone lives, we are in the mindset of educating people on the current hazards of open 
burns vs. penalizing. 

Within the past 2 weeks, Harrison Fire Rescue has already responded to three uncontrolled grass/wildland fires 
of unknown origin. 

Hope this helps, 

Jarred Gerl 

Chief — Harrison Fire Rescue 

From: Kathy Salo <kathy.l.salo@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, April 27, 2020 8:34 AM 
To: Jarred Gerl <JGerl@harrison-wi.org> 
Subject: Current burning restriction 

P74 



Good morning Jarred, 

I hope this email finds you well. I'm a resident of Sherwood and am seeking clarification on the Harrison Fire 
Dept service area burning restriction. Does this apply to permit burning only or all outdoor burning? 

I called the Calumet County Sheriff on Saturday for clarification who reached out to you as many of my 
neighbors were burning over the weekend. The response I received was Sherwood also has a permit 
requirement and is therefore included in the outdoor burning restriction. I searched the current ordinances and 
did not find anything in regards to permit requirements. While I will confirm this with Randy Friday, do you have 
anything to support this? 

Also, as there were many people burning I did not see any enforcement, is the restriction self-policing? 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions. 

Thank you, 

Kathy Salo 

P75 



TO: The Village of Sherwood 	 January 21, 2020 

SUBJECT: Health and Safety Hazards of Open Burning 

• Open burning of leaves and brush is a health hazard for all that are forced to 
breath the polluted air. 

• Because of the moisture that is usually trapped within leaves, they tend to burn 
slowly and thus generate large amounts of airborne particulates—fine bits of 
dust, soot and other solid materials. According to Wisconsin's Department of 
Natural Resources, these particulates can reach deep into lung tissue and cause 
coughing, wheezing, chest pain, shortness of breath and sometimes long-term 
respiratory problems. 

• Leaf smoke may also contain hazardous chemicals such as carbon monoxide, 
which can bind with hemoglobin in the bloodstream and reduce the amount of 
oxygen in the blood and lungs. Another noxious chemical commonly present in 
leaf smoke is benzo(a) pyrene, which has been shown to cause cancer in 
animals and is believed to be a major factor in lung cancer caused by cigarette 
smoke. The smoke from wood burning is made up of a complex mixture of 
gases and fine particles. In addition to particle pollution, wood smoke contains 
several toxic harmful air pollutants including benzene, formaldehyde, acrolein 
and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. 

• People exposed to these air pollutants can experience eye and nose irritation, 
difficulty breathing, coughing and headaches. People with heart disease, 
asthma, emphysema or other respiratory diseases are especially sensitive to air 
pollutants. Other health problems aggravated by burning include lung infections, 
pneumonia, bronchiolitis and allergies. Breathing smoke can wreak havoc on 
small children and the elderly with asthma or other lung or heart diseases. 

• Smoke is especially dangerous to people with breathing problems like asthma 
and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). How many people have 
breathing problems? 

Asthma: 7.9% National (Center for Disease Control, 2017) 

COPD: 13.6% in Wisconsin (American Lung Association, 2017) 

P76 



• Another factor is fire safety. People's houses, yards, decks and patios are showered 
with ashes from open burning of leaves and brush. Are some of the ashes hot and 
could cause damage to property? We don't know in the haze of smoke. Families are 
then forced into an unhealthy environment on their own property covered with ashes. 

• People burn their leaves, wood and sometimes trash in their fire pit. Open burning of 
leaves and brush outside a fire pit or inside a fire pit is still open burning. It does not 
matter whether the smoke is generated inside or outside a fire pit. It is the same 
health and safety hazard. 

• People should not be confined inside their house or forced to leave the 
neighborhood or community in order to breath. As leaders in the community, the 
health and safety of all residents should be a priority. You can see from these facts 
and figures that breathing smoke from open burning is a serious health hazard to the 
village residents and very harmful to those with breathing problems (up tot in 5 
residents). I urge you to keep this in mind when making decisions about open 
burning. 

• The recommended and obvious solution is composting. We ask that burning be 
banned and additional resources be allocated to recycling and composting. 

Sincerely, 

°,,e4cv-‘97-7 
Dennis and Jackie Pederson 

N576 Robinhood Way 

Attachment: CDC National Asthma Data, 2017 

Attachment: American Lung Association COPD Data, 2017 

P77 



Most Recent National Asthma Data I CDC 	 Page 1 of 4 

CD Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
CDC 24/7: Saving lives, Protecting PeopleTM' 

 

Asthma 

Most Recent National Asthma Data 
Thcst: t ±k fcaturc tic !atcst nztar.a! znd statc statistics on the burden of asthma among children and adults. The data 
are from national and state surveillance systems administered by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 
Links to sources are provided with each table to assist with finding additional information on the data and relevant tables 

and reports. 

See also: State or Territory Data, Archived Most Recent Data 

National Data 

Prevalence 	Asthma Attacks 

Characteristic-  

Health Care Use 	Mortality 

National 
Current Asthma' Prevalence (2017) 

Number with Current Asthma (in thousands) Percent with Current Asthma 

Total 25,191 7.9 

Child (Age <18 years) 6,182 8.4 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 19,009 7.7 

All Age Groups 

0-4 years 869 4.4 

5-14 years 4,010 9.7 

15-19 years 2,020 9.4 

20-24 years 1,498 7.3 

25-34 years 3,311 7.6 

35-64 years 10,036 8.1 

65+ years 3,447 7.0 

Child Age Group 

0-4 years 869 4.4 

5-11 years 2,548 8.8 

12717 years 2,765 11.1 

Young Teens (12-14 years) 1,462 11.8 

Teenagers (15-17 years) 1,304 10.4 

Adolescents (11-21 years) 4,460 9.7 

Young Adults (22-39 years) 5,727 7.4 

Sex 

Males 10,035 6.4 

Boys (Age <18 years) 3,569 9.5 

Men (Age 18+ years) 6,466 5.4 

Females 15,156 9.3 

https://www.cdc.gov/asthma/most  recent national_asthrna data.htin 	 10/5/2019 

P78 



Most Recent National Asthma Data j CDC Page 2 of 4 

Girls (Age <18 years) 2,613 7.3 

Women (Age 18+ years) 12,544 9.8 

Race/Ethnicity 
White NH 15,718 8.1 

Child (Age <18 years) 2,918 7.7 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 12,800 8.1 

Black NH 3,910 10.1 

Child (Age <18 years) 1,231 12.6 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 2,679 9.2 

Other NH 1,871 6.7 

Child (Age <18 years) 617 8.2 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 1,254 6.1 

Hispanic 3,692 6.4 

Child (Age <18 years) 1,416 7.7 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 2,276 5.8 

Puerto Rican' 695 12.8 

Child (Age <18 years) 1951  11.3 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 499 13.5 

Mexican/Mexican American' 1,822 5.1 

Child (Age <18 years) 753 6.2 

Adult (Age 18+ years) 1,069 4.5 

Federal Poverty Threshold 

Below 100% of poverty level 5,020 11.7 

100% to less than 250% of poverty level 6,769 7.9 

250% to less than 450% of poverty level 6,061 7.3 

450% of poverty level or higher 7,342 6.8 

Note: NH = Non-Hispanic 

Includes persons who answered "yes" to the questions: "Have you EVER been told by a doctor or other health 

professional that you had asthma?' and "Do you still have asthma?" 

"Numbers within selected characteristics may not sum to total due to rounding 

'As a subset of Hispanic 

111:1.-.t!ve Ltondard error of the estirtiate is 30%-50%; the estimate is unreliable. 

Source: 2017 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) Data, Table 3-1 and Table 4-1 (Note: Child Age Group data 

analyzed separately) 

htMs://www.cdc.gov/asthma/most  recent national_asthma_data.htm 	 10/5/2019 

P79 


	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22
	Page 23
	Page 24
	Page 25
	Page 26
	Page 27
	Page 28
	Page 29
	Page 30
	Page 31
	Page 32
	Page 33
	Page 34
	Page 35
	Page 36
	Page 37
	Page 38
	Page 39
	Page 40
	Page 41
	Page 42
	Page 43
	Page 44
	Page 45
	Page 46
	Page 47
	Page 48
	Page 49
	Page 50
	Page 51
	Page 52
	Page 53
	Page 54
	Page 55
	Page 56
	Page 57
	Page 58
	Page 59
	Page 60
	Page 61
	Page 62
	Page 63
	Page 64
	Page 65
	Page 66
	Page 67
	Page 68
	Page 69
	Page 70
	Page 71
	Page 72
	Page 73
	Page 74
	Page 75
	Page 76
	Page 77
	Page 78
	Page 79

